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STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
 
 Note 2020 2019 

Interest and similar to interest income 4.1 82,477 77,728 

Interest expense 4.1 (15,252) (16,427) 

Net interest income  67,225 61,301 

Net income from commissions and fees 4.2 50,361 52,147 

Gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities 4.3 3,470 6,685 

Impairment and provision (loss)/income for credit risk 4.6 (18,525) 7,593 

Result of trading activity and fair value measurement 4.3 4,424 6,791 

Other income/(expense), net 4.4 5,760 5,451 

Operating expense 4.5 (115,290) (135,862) 

Net modification (loss) 4.5 (4,025) - 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates 
(impairment)/reversal of impairment 

4.15 (1,457) (26) 

Share of associated companies' profit   (2) 412 

Gains/(losses) on non-current assets and disposal 
groups classified as held for sale 

4.17 1,918 (109) 

Profit/(loss) before tax   (6,141) 4,383 

Income tax income/(expense) 4.7 1,613 (2,151) 

Profit/(loss) for the financial year   (4,528) 2,232 

Of which: profit of the owners of the parent company   (1,676) 12,944 

Of which: profit of the non-controlling interests   (2,852) (10,712) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Budapest, 14 June 2021  

 
 
 

József Vida  Antal Martzy 
Chief Executive Officer  Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
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Other comprehensive income Note 2020 2019 

Other comprehensive income that may not be 
recognized in profit or loss in subsequent periods 

  (255) 2,350 

Change in fair value of equity instruments measured 
through other comprehensive income 

  (309) 2,350 

Income tax on non-reclassifiable items 4.7 54 - 

Other comprehensive income that may be 
recognized in profit or loss in subsequent periods 

  (4,767) 4,932 

Hedging instruments (not designated elements)   2,051 (7,035) 

Other debt instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

  (6,821) 12,173 

Income tax on items that can be reclassified to profit or 
loss 

4.7 3 (206) 

Total comprehensive income for the year   (9,550) 9,514 

Of which: total comprehensive income of the owners of 
the parent company 

  (6,595) 20,275 

Of which: total comprehensive income of the non-
controlling interests 

  (2,955) (10,761) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Budapest, 14 June 2021  

 

 
 

József Vida  Antal Martzy 
Chief Executive Officer  Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
 Note 31 December 2020 31 December 2019 

Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents 4.9 773,941 101,712 

Financial assets measured at FVTPL 4.10 171,401 62,918 

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI 4.12 1,064,428 394,973 

Financial assets measured at AC 4.13 6,051,906 1,760,626 

Other financial assets 4.11 2,949 3,119 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates 4.15 13,241 7,338 

Property, plant and equipment 4.16 99,073 47,234 

Goodwill 4.15 94,422 1,453 

Intangible assets 4.16 54,511 6,587 

Current income tax assets   1,900 318 

Deferred tax assets 4.8 12,714 2,520 

Other assets 4.14 45,905 15,439 

Non-current assets held for sale 4.17 1,700 4,452 

Total assets   8,388,091 2,408,689 

Liabilities       

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL 4.18 49,124 11,273 

Financial liabilities measured at AC 4.19 7,642,768 2,254,876 

Other financial liabilities 4.11 5,989 3,311 

Subordinated liabilities 4.30 44,724 - 

Provisions 4.20 13,040 9,428 

Current tax liabilities   835 - 

Deferred tax liabilities 4.8 2,117 1,867 

Other liabilities 4.21 71,228 32,478 
Liabilities associated with non-current 
assets held for sale 

  - 292 

Total liabilities   7,829,825 2,313,525 

Equity       

Share capital   56,400 3,390 

Share premium    491,600 3,479 

Revaluation reserve   (858) 12,034 

Retained earnings   34,303 26,303 

Other reserves 2.16 204,276 3,681 

Reorganization reserve  2.1.1 (275,470) - 

Treasury shares   - (3,212) 

Non-controlling interests 4.24 48,015 49,489 

Total equity   558,266 95,164 
 

 

Budapest, 14 June 2021  
 

 
József Vida  Antal Martzy 

Chief Executive Officer  Deputy Chief Executive Officer 



 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 (Every amount is expressed in HUF million, any differences shall be marked separately. The thousands separator is a comma, negative numbers are in brackets.) 
 

6 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

Changes in Equity Note 
Share  
capital 

Share 
premium 

Treasury 
shares 

Retained  
earnings 

Other 
reserves 

Reorganisation 
reserve 

Revaluation 
reserve 

Equity to 
owners of 
the parent 
company 

Non-
controlling 
interests 

Total equity 

1 January 2019  3,390 3,479 (5,903) (13,761) 4,090 -  3,253 (5,452) 89,140 83,688 

Profit for the year   - - - 12,944 - - - 12,944 (10,712) 2,232 
Other comprehensive income   - - - - - - 7,331 7,331 (49) 7,282 
Reclassification*   - - - 409 (409) - - - - - 
Increase in repurchased 
treasury shares  

 - - 2,691 (26) - - - 2,665 - 2,665 

Increase in ownership in 
subsidiaries  

 - - - (7,624) - - - (7,624) 9,439 1,815 

Decrease in ownership in 
subsidiaries  

 - - - 39,548 - - 1,450 40,998 (36,926) 4,072 

Dividends - paid in the current 
year  

 - - - (5,187) - - - (5,187) (1,403) (6,590) 

31 December 2019  3,390 3,479 (3,212) 26,303 3,681 -  12,034 45,675 49,489 95,164 

1 January 2020  3,390 3,479 (3,212) 26,303 3,681 - 12,034 45,675 49,489 95,164 

Profit for the year   - - - (1,676) - - - (1,676) (2,852) (4,528) 
Other comprehensive income   - - - - - - (4,919) (4,919) (103) (5,022) 
Reclassification*   - - - (1,595) 1,595 - - - - - 
Equity effect of business 
combination  

2.1.1 53,010 488,121 3,212 (1,413) 199,000 (275,470) - 466,460 7,071 473,531 

Derecognition of subsidiaries   - - - 7,390 - - (7,958) (568) - (568) 

Increase in ownership in 
subsidiaries  

4.15 - - - 7,090 - - - 7,090 (6,198) 892 

Decrease in ownership in 
subsidiaries  

4.15 - - - (1,796) - - (15) (1,811) 608 (1,203) 

31 December 2020  56,400 491,600 - 34,303 204,276 (275,470) (858) 510,251 48,015 558,266 

* containing MTB Group’s general reserve and MBH Group’s individual other reserve 
 
 
Budapest, 14 June 2021  

 
 
 
 

József Vida  Antal Martzy 
Chief Executive Officer  Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
 

 Note 2020 2019 

       

Cash flows from operating activities      

Profit/(loss) before tax  (6,141) 4,383 

    

Adjustments for    

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets 

4.5 8,353 8,042 

Net realized income on sale of property, plant and 
equipment 

 (177) (758) 

(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment on loans and 
contingent liabilities 

4.6 18,662 (4,710) 

(Reversal of impairment)/Impairment on non-financial 
assets 

 (51) (669) 

Change in other provisions 4.4 (5,117) (71) 

Unrealized revaluation gain (revaluation of trading 
securities and derivatives) 

4.3 (879) (4,688) 

Profit from associates 4.15 2 (412) 

Interest received 4.1 (82,477) (77,728) 

Interest paid 4.1 15,251 16,428 

Dividends received 4.3 (310) (358) 

FX change  (1,176) (3,588) 

Cash flow from operating profit before tax before 
operating assets and liabilities changes 

 (54,060) (64,130) 

Change in financial assets and liabilities measured at 
FVTPL 

 (9,434) 18,607 

Change in assets and liabilities measured at FVOCI 4.12 125,020 333,664 

Change in assets and liabilities measured at AC 4.13 75,293 (320,642) 

Changes in hedge accounting  (2,392) (2,075) 

Change in other assets  599 4,891 

Change in other liabilities  (11,355) 13,799 

Interest received 4.1 82,477 77,728 

Interest paid 4.1 (15,251) (16,428) 

Change in operating assets and liabilities  244,957 109,543 

Income tax 4.7 (363) 42 

Net cash flow from operating activities  190,534 45,455 
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 Note 2020 2019 
    

Cash flow from investing activities      

Change in cash due to business combination 4.9 482,327 (3) 

Change in cash from the sale of a related 
interest 

 2,042 44 

Dividends received  310 358 

Purchase of intangible assets and property, 
plant and equipment 

4.16 (3,983) (18,672) 

Amount frome sale of property, plant and 
equipment 

 
(177) 2,379 

Net cash flow from investing activities  480,519 (15,893) 

    

Cash flow from financing activities      

Sale of treasury shares  - 2,691 

Dividends paid  - (6,590) 

Net cash flow from financing activities  - (3,899) 

    

Change in cash    

Opening cash  101,712 72,461 

Effect of exchange rate changes  1,176 3,588 

Closing cash  773,941 101,712 

Change in cash  671,053 25,663 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Budapest, 14 June 2021  

 
 
 
 

József Vida  Antal Martzy 
Chief Executive Officer  Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Magyar Bankholding Zrt. (hereinafter: MBH) was established by three banking entities (Banks): Budapest 
Bank Zrt. (hereinafter: BB), MKB Bank Nyrt. (hereinafter: MKB) and Magyar Takarékszövetkezeti Bank 
Zrt. (hereinafter: MTB) with equal (33.33%) ownership interest from the 4 billion HUF equity on the 26th of 
May 2020. The Court of Registration of the Budapest-Capital Regional Court, based on the license of the 
National Bank of Hungary, registered MBH in the companies register with its decision no. 01-10-140865/5.  
 
On 30 October 2020, the Banks (BB, MKB, MTB) sold all of their shares representing 33.33% ownership 
in MBH to their shareholders. After the transaction the ownership structure of MBH is the following: 
 

Name of the shareholders Ownership share % 
Magyar Takarék Befektetési és Vagyongazdálkodási Zrt. 37.69% 
Corvinus Nemzetközi Befektetési Zrt. 30.35% 
METIS Magántőkealap 11.51% 
Blue Robin Investments S.C.A. 10.82% 
RKOFIN Befektetési és Vagyonkezelő Kft. 4.48% 
EIRENE Magántőkealap 3.29% 
Pantherinae Pénzügyi Zrt. 1.02% 
PRIME FINANCE Future Zrt. 0.84% 
  

MBH commenced its group management function as a holding company on 15 December 2020, after the 
shares of the key owners of BB, MKB and MTB were transferred by the key owners to the joint holding 
company in possession of the approval of National Bank of Hungary (hereinafter: NBH). As a result of the 
owners transferred their shares to MBH, the second largest banking group in Hungary has been 
established, with the Hungarian State owning 30.35% of the shares through Corvinus Nemzetközi 
Befektetési Zrt., the previous direct owners of MKB acquiring 31.96% of the shares and the previous direct 
owners of MTB acquiring 37.69% of the shares. All required approval has been obtained for these 
changes. 
 
Following the contribution, the financial holding company will perform strategic decision-making, prudential 
control and group management functions over the three banking groups, as well as plan and manage the 
merger process that optimizes the operation of the banks. The detailed merger plan and the business 
strategy will be established in 2021. BB, MKB and MTB will preserve their individual legal status, and will 
operate as separate brands until the merger.  
 
After the contribution in kind the synergistic of the intercompany transactions will be immediately utilize. 
MBH and its subsidiaries maintain their accounting records and prepare their general ledger statements 
in accordance with the provisions of the laws prevailing in Hungary. The Group’s functional currency is  
Hungarian Forint (HUF). The data in this statement are provided in HUF million, any differences shall be 
marked separately.  
 
Chairman of the Board of Directors: dr. Zsolt Barna 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board: Zsolt Rózsa  
 
Members of the Board of Directors: 

- József Vida Chief Executive Officer 
- dr. Ádám Balog Board member 
- dr. Koppány Tibor Lélfai Board member 
- dr. Attila Tajthy Board member 

The above presented financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 were authorized for issue 
in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors on 14 June 2021.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Accounting principles are the actual principles, foundations, conventions, rules and practices that the 
Group applies in the course of preparing and presenting consolidated financial statements. The following 
accounting principles were applied consistently for every period presented in the consolidated financial 
statements and they were consistently applied by the economic entities within the Group. 
 
2.1 The basis of consolidation, consolidated financial statements  
 
Consolidated financial statements aim at providing information on the financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows of the Group that may prove useful for a wide range of users in making their 
economic decisions. This requirement is fulfilled with the preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
The consolidated accounting policy of the Group, in consideration of the above, contains the accounting 
principles, procedures, valuation methods applied as well as other regulations related to the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements. The Group prepares its financial statements in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted by the European Union.  
 
The consolidated financial statements are composed of the following sections: 

 Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
 Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
 Notes to consolidated financial statements 

 
The consolidated financial statements do not include a consolidated business report however the Group 
prepares and ensures that it is assigned to interested parties at its headquarter and website each year.  
 
The consolidated financial statements present the assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash 
flow of the parent company and its subsidiaries in a manner as if they were the financial statements of a 
single economic entity. 
 
The subsidiaries are economic entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group, resulting 
from its participation in the subsidiaries, is exposed to variable yields or has the rights in relation to them 
and it is able to influence these yields through its power exerted over the subsidiaries. Control is 
determined by taking into consideration the actual and potential voting rights.  
 
Newly-acquired subsidiaries are involved in the consolidation from the date when the Group acquires 
control over them. If the subsidiary does not have a financial statement for the date of fusion, then it will 
be involved using the data of its financial statements prepared to the nearest date of the fusion.  
 
Acquisition of the subsidiaries are recognized with the acquisition method. The fair value of the 
consideration transferred at the sale, the costs directly related to the acquisition are presented in the profit 
or loss. Acquired identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are valued at their fair value on the 
day of the acquisition. The part of the cost of acquisition exceeding the fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities belonging to the Group are recognized as goodwill.  
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In case the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the acquired enterprise belonging to the Group, the difference is presented in the profit or loss 
of the period.  
 
The list of subsidiaries is included in Note „2.30 Determining subsidiaries”. 
 
The companies in which MBH has no controlling or significant influence and there is no reliable method to 
estimate their fair value are represented in the statement of financial position at cost less impairment, as 
in the opinion of the management this is the value that most appropriately reflects to their fair value. 
The Group fully involves its subsidiaries in the consolidation and in addition to the possessions, assets 
and liabilities of the subsidiaries, it presents their revenues and expenses, as well. 
 
In case the accounting policies applied by a member of the Group to identical transactions or to differing 
events in similar circumstances that are different from the ones applied in the consolidated financial 
statements, that particular member of the Group modifies its financial statements accordingly when 
preparing the consolidated financial statements in order to ensure compliance with the accounting policies 
of the Group. 
 
Presenting and measuring goodwill or gain from a bargain purchase 
 
The Group presents goodwill at the time of the acquisition where goodwill is defined by the Group as 
follows: 
   
Fair value of consideration transferred 
+ the sum of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
+ fair value of earlier equity participation in the acquiree where a business combination is realized in 
phases 
- net amount of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed for the date of the acquisition. 
 
The Group carried out a profitable bargain if such a business combination took place where the calculation 
above shows negative result. The Group records the profit from the time of the acquisition. 
 
Goodwill impairment 
 
Goodwill is not amortized but is reviewed for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units 
(or groups of cash-generating units) expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  
 
Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata 
on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.  
 
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. On disposal of a cash 
generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on 
disposal. 
 
Debt consolidation 
 
Debt consolidation identifies the accumulations that result from the claims, liabilities, accruals and 
provisions of the members of the Group towards each other. 
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Consolidation of revenues and expenses 
 
Revenues and expenses resulting from services provided and other performances between each other 
cannot be presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss therefore these items must be 
eliminated during the consolidation process. 
 
Deferred tax 
 
The Group presents identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their fair value valid for the time 
of the acquisition, provided that the tax base of the identifiable assets acquired or liabilities assumed is not 
affected, or not differently affected, by the business combination and no temporary difference is created.  
 
The Group recognises the deferred tax assets created (if they fulfil the recognition criteria) or the deferred 
tax liabilities as identifiable assets and liabilities at the time of the acquisition. Consequently, these deferred 
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities affect the amount of the goodwill and the gain from a bargain 
purchase recognized by the Group. 
 
Consolidation of associates enterprises 
 
The Group recognises its associates according to the equity method. Based on this, investments are 
recognised at cost at initial recognition then the carrying value is increased or decreased to account for 
the investor’s share in the profit or loss of the recipient of the investment generated since the acquisition. 
 
Non-controlling interest 
 
The non-controlling interest is intially measured at the proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. The Group allocates the result and every item in the other comprehensive income 
to the owners of the parent company and to the non-controlling interests. In addition to this, the entity 
allocates the entire comprehensive income to the owners of the parent company and to the non-controlling 
interests, even if it means that the non-controlling interests will have a negative balance. If a subsidiary 
has accumulating preference shares that have been classified as shareholders’ equity and which are 
owned by non-controlling interests, the entity, irrespective of whether the dividend has been approved, will 
calculate the net income related to it after an adjustment with the dividend payable for such shares. 
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2.1.1 Business combinations during the reporting period 
 
MBH commenced its group management function as a holding company on 15 December 2020, after the 
shares of the key owners of BB, MKB and MTB were contributed and in exchange MBH issued new shares 
to those shareholders in possession of the approval of National Bank of Hungary (hereinafter: NBH). Since 
MBH is a holding company and is not considered as a business according to the definition of IFRS 3, it 
was identified in the transaction as the legal acquirer but from economic perspective as the accounting 
acquire. Therefore, the accounting acquirer should be one of the entity whose shares were contributed to 
MBH (one of the legal acquiree). The accounting acquirer was determined on the basis of the total assets  
and consequently MTB was considered as the accounting acquirer. 
 
In such acquisitions, the accounting acquirer does not give consideration to the acquiree, but instead the 
accounting acquiree issues shares to the owners of the accounting acquirer. In accordance with this, the 
fair value of the consideration transferred by the accounting acquirer for its share in the accounting 
acquiree at the date of the acquisition is based on the number of the shares that the legal subsidiary would 
have issued to give the owners of the legal parent the same percentage of equity interest in the combined 
entity resulting from the transaction. The fair value of the number of equity interest calculated in this way 
has been used as the fair value of the consideration transferred in exchange for the acquiree. 
 
The consolidated financial statements are issued under the name of MBH (accounting acquiree) but in the 
notes it is presented as the continuation of the financial statements of MTB (accounting acquirer) with one 
modification, i.e. that the minimum capital of MTB was amended retroactively so that it reflects the 
minimum capital of MBH. This modification is necessary so that it reflects the own funds of the legal parent 
company, i.e.: MBH. Conversely, the comparative information presented in these financial statements still 
reflect the legal capital of the legal subsidiary and accounting acquirer, i.e.: MTB. 
 
At the date of the acquisition, a reorganization reserve in the amount of HUF 275,470 million has been 
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements of MBH which reserve represents the difference 
between the value of shares issued by MBH in exchange for the value of shares of the legal acquiree 
MTB. The reorganization reserve is a separate balance sheet line within equity that is solely presented in 
the consolidated financial statements of MBH. The reorganization reserve has no effects on solvency 
capital and the amount of reserve presented in the consolidated financial statements of MBH may be 
modified in case of changes in the legal structure of the Group (merger). 
 
Since consolidated financial statements – with the exception of capital structure – are the continuation of 
the financial statements of MTB the consolidated financial statements reflect: 

i. the assets and liabilities of MTB which are to be recorded and measured at the carrying value 
prior to the combination.  

ii. the assets and liabilities of MBH which are to be recorded and measured in accordance with the 
applicable IFRS.  

iii. the accumulated profit or loss of MTB and its other balances presented in its equity prior to the 
business combination  

iv. the amount recorded as equity interest issued in the consolidated financial statements which are 
determined by adding the equity interest of MTB issued and traded directly prior to the business 
combination to the fair value of MBH with the adjustment mentioned above to reflect the legal 
capital structure of MBH.  

 
The assets and liabilities of MTB are to be recorded and measured in the consolidated financial statements 
at their carrying value prior to the combination. 
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Although the transaction occurred on 15 December 2020, 31 December 2020 was considered as the 
acquisition date for accounting purpose. Therefore the FY2020 consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income includes the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of MBH 
(legal acquier) and MTB Group (legal acquiree). The previous year’s comparative information in the 
financial statements represent the MTB Group (legal acquiree). 
 
The business combination was done in order to create the second largest banking group in Hungary with 
the Hungarian State owning 30.35% of the shares through Corvinus Nemzetközi Befektetési Zrt., the 
previous direct owners of MKB acquiring 31.96% of the shares and the previous direct owners of MTB 
acquiring 37.69% of the shares. 
 
The Group acquired the shares of BB, MKB and MTB as follows which represent the fair value of the 
issued equity interest. The consideration transferred did not contain any contingent consideration 
arrangements.  

  
% of shares 

acquired 
Fair value of 

shares acquired 
Budapest Bank Zrt.  100% 222,900  
MKB Bank Nyrt.  97% 237,760  
MTB Zrt.  100% 282,340  

 

The provisional amounts recognised in respect of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
are as set out in the table below since the purchase price allocation has not been completed and will be 
finalized during the financial year 2021.   
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2 BB  MKB 

Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 291,821 191,763 

Financial assets measured at FVTPL 50,317 40,320 

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI 226,205 607,168 

Financial assets measured at AC 1,570,172 1,848,986 

Other financial assets 2,848 - 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates - 2,683 

Property, plant and equipment 24,734 29,515 

Goodwill - - 

Intangible assets 19,734 28,679 

Current income tax assets 432 1,468 

Deferred tax assets 203 6,979 

Other assets 11,142 18,115 

Non-current assets held for sale - 1,533 

Total assets 2,197,608 2,777,209 

   

2 BB  MKB 

Liabilities     

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL 5,420 29,259 

Financial liabilities measured at AC 1,998,893 2,467,096 

Other financial liabilities 3,617 - 

Subordinated liabilities - 44,724 

Provisions 3,804 2,831 

Current tax liabilities 267 3 

Deferred tax liabilities 75 106 

Other liabilities 17,325 27,833 

Liabilities classified as held for sale - - 

Total liabilities 2,029,401 2,571,852 
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The acquired financial assets include account receivables, loans, derivatives, equity and debt instruments 
with a fair value set in the table below: 

  BB MKB 

Cash and cash equivalents 288,717 191,767 

Financial assets measured at FVTPL 50,317 40,289 

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI 188,647 605,870 

Financial assets measured at AC 1,575,781 1,809,723 

Other financial assets 2,848 - 

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations - 1,533 

Total financial assets 2,106,310 2,649,182 

 

The Group did not recognise any contingent liability in respect of the business combination in the 
provisional purchase price allocation. 
 
The provisional goodwill of HUF 94,422 million arising from the acquisition consists of the synergies 
expected to arise from the business combination as the result of cost savings and creating incremental 
revenue opportunities throughout know-how sharing and centralized internal operation. None of the 
goodwill recognized in the consolidated financial statements is expected to be deductible for income tax 
purposes. 
 
The non-controlling interest (2.81% ownership interest in MKB) recognised at the acquisition date was 
measured by the proportionate share of net assets upon the business combination. The non-controlling 
amounted to HUF 7,071 million. 
 
Acquisition-related costs (included in operating expenses) amount to HUF 1,641 million which has been 
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss . 

Acquired entities did not contribute to the Group’s profit and loss, since the date of acquisition is considered 
to be the end of reporting period. If the acquisition of BB and MKB would have been completed on the first 
day of the financial year, Group total comprehensive income for the year would have consist the followings 
 

0 BB MKB 

Profit/(loss) for the financial year 3,622 8,423 

Other comprehensive income (257) 3,187 

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,365 11,610 
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2.1.2 Special regulations regarding consolidation 
 
The Central Organization of Integrated Credit Institutions shall be included in the “Prudential” scope of the 
Group’s consolidation, regulated by the NBH’s decesion no H-EN-I-832/2014. In accordance with this, the 
Central Organization of Integrated Credit Institutions is consolidated as a subsidiary in the “Prudential” 
consolidation, according to special capital consolidation rules. Since the Parent has no control over the 
Central Organization of Intergrated Credit Institutions, the entity is not considered as a subsidiary in these 
financial statements.  
 
2.2 Recognition principles in financial statements 
 
The incomes, expenses, assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries are recognized in the corresponding lines 
of the consolidated financial statement, while the intragroup balances and transactions are eliminated. 
 
2.3 Compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards     
 
This consolidated statement was prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), and all applicable provisions thereof, adopted by the European Union, for matters not 
covered by IFRSs, the relevant provisions of the effective Act C of 2000 on Accounting („Accounting Act”) 
shall be applied. 
 
IFRS’s consist of the accounting standards issued by the IASB and its predecessor, and the interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and its predecessor. 
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hungarian Forints (HUF), rounded to millions, 
except where marked otherwise. 
 
2.4 The basis of the preparation of the statement   
 
The consolidated financial statement was prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance 
with valuation methods required and permitted by the IFRS, with the exception of financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading and the financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL) and assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) which were 
recorded in the financial statements at fair value. 
 
Going concern principle   
 
The consolidated financial statements are based on the going concern principle. During the preparation of 
the financial statements, the management determines the ability of the Group to continue as a going 
concern. The financial statements of the Group shall be prepared with the assumption that the entity 
continues as a going concern, except where the management has intent to discontinue or terminate its 
business operations or where it has no other realistic possibility to do so. If the management, during its 
consideration, becomes aware of substantial uncertainties related to events or conditions that cause 
serious doubt as to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, the economic entity must disclose 
such uncertainties. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially translated to the respective functional currency of the Group. 
Translation of transactions denominated in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency is based 
on officially published foreign exchange rates by NBH. 
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At the end of the reporting periods:  
 monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional 

currency at the exchange rate on the balance sheet date;  
 non-monetary items reported at amortized cost are converted at the exchange rate on the initial 

day of the transaction; 
 non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair 

value are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value 
was determined. 

 
Offsetting 
 
The Group does not offset financial assets and financial liabilities, incomes and expenses unless required 
or permitted by a standard or an interpretation. 
 
Events after reporting period 
 
An event after the reporting period could be favourable or unfavourable, that occurs between the end of 
the reporting period and the date that the financial statements are authorised for issue. 
 
Adjusting and non-adjusting events after the balance sheet date are separately distinguished according to 
whether the post balance sheet events occurred on the balance sheet date or not. If conditions existed at 
the balance sheet date, however the relevant informations have been received after the balance sheet 
date, adjustments shall be recognized in the Group’s current year financial statements. In case of non-
adjusting events, the adjustments shall not be recognized in the financial statements, but the estimation 
of the potential impact is necessary as all the material effects shall be disclosed in the Notes. 
 
Trade date and settlement date accounting 
 
A regular purchase or sale transaction of a financial asset is recognized on the date of delivery. Date of 
settlement is the day when the Group takes possession of the asset. A regular sale or purchase transaction 
is a transaction where the asset sold or purchased and must be delivered within the predefined interval. 
 
2.5 Determining fair value   
 
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on quoted 
market prices or dealer price quotations. For all other financial instruments the Group determines fair 
values using valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash 
flow models, comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, Black-Scholes 
and polynomial option pricing models and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in 
valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premia used 
in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity 
index prices and expected price volatilities and correlations. 
 
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the 
financial instrument at the end of the reporting period that would have been determined by market 
participants acting at arm’s length. 
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The Group uses widely recognised valuation models for determining the fair value of common and more 
simple financial instruments, like interest rate and currency swaps that use only observable market data 
and require little management judgement and estimation. Observable prices and model inputs are usually 
available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchange traded derivatives and simple over 
the counter derivatives like interest rate swaps. Availability of observable market prices and model inputs 
reduces the need for management judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated 
with determination of fair values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on 
the products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the 
financial markets. 
 
For more complex instruments, the Group uses proprietary valuation models, which usually are developed 
from recognised valuation models. Some or all of the significant inputs into these models may not be 
observable in the market, and are derived from market prices or rates or are estimated based on 
assumptions. Example of instruments involving significant unobservable inputs includes certain over the 
counter structured derivatives and certain loans and securities for which there is no active market. 
Valuation models that employ significant unobservable inputs require a higher degree of management 
judgement and estimation in determination of fair value. Management judgement and estimation are 
usually required for selection of the appropriate valuation model to be used, determination of expected 
future cash flows on the financial instrument being valued, determination of probability of counterparty 
default and prepayments and selection of appropriate discount rates. 
 
The Group applies the following hierarchy to determine and publish the fair value of financial instruments 
with a valuation technique: 
 

- Level 1: Quoted market price in an active market. 
- Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs. This category includes instruments 

valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for 
similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques 
where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 

- Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all 
instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and the 
unobservable inputs could have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category 
includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where 
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between 
the instruments. 

 
The Group separately determines the fair value of non-trading financial instruments mandatorily measured 
at fair value through profit or loss in the balance sheet according to the following. 
 
The valuation model applied takes into consideration the following: 

- the scheduled and calculated capital repayment of loans, with certain limitations; 
- in the case of repriced loans, the model recalculates the cash flow from interests; 
- in the case of loans at amortized cost calculated with the simplified method, fair value adjustment 

is not applied. 
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The cash flow sequences thus calculated will be discounted with the valuation yield curve used by the 
Group which contains the following components: 
 

- Relevant yield curve of the market; 
- Implied premium from the annual cost of risk; 
- Implied premium from the capital allocated to loans (regulatory minimum capital requirement and 

total buffer). 
 

Net asset value, i.e. the fair value of the credit portfolio, is determined by aggregating foreign currency 
value and converting it to HUF. 
 
In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 13, the following need to be considered when selecting the 
most appropriate valuation method when the fair value is determined: 
 

- the scope of information reasonably available to the Group; 
- current and expected market conditions; 
- investment horizon and the type of investment (for example, when measuring the fair value of 

short-term financial investments, dominant market sentiment may be better detected with some 
valuation techniques than with others); 

- the life cycle of the entity whose share is considered (certain valuation models better grasp the 
fair value of the share in different life cycles than others); 

- pro/counter-cyclical nature of the business operations of the entity; and 
- the specific features of the industry where the entity operates. 

 
In the case of illiquid stock market interest, the Group - in line with market practice - applies a volume-
weighted 180-day average price when determining the fair value.  
 
In the case of equity instruments whose prices cannot be derived from the prices visible in the market, the 
Group, when selecting the valuation method, will primarily consider the expected future cash flow 
generated from holding the interest and the reliability thereof. Dividend and cash flow expectations may 
be available from market data providers (Bloomberg, Reuters, S&P Market Intelligence), from business 
plans, management declarations of intent etc. 
 
Counterparty risk (CVA) and own credit risk (DVA) is also taken into account by calculation of fair value of 
derivative transactions except of the followings: 
- Netting of NPVs to counterparty level is allowed only in case of International Swaps and Derivatives 

Association (ISDA) agreement is available; 
- If the partners have Credit Support Annex (CSA) for the derivative then both CVA and DVA are 0; 
- If the contract covered by collateral then CVA=0. 

 
2.6. Financial instruments   
 
Financial instruments or financial liabilities will only be recognized by the Group in the statement of its 
financial position when the contractual conditions of such instruments become relevant for it. Financial 
assets and liabilities are initially presented at fair value plus or minus the cost of transaction. Exception to 
this are financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss where the cost of transaction is 
accounted immediately against profit or loss.  
 
The subsequent measurement of financial instruments, depending on the classification of the asset or 
liability, occurs at amortized cost or fair value. 
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General principals 
 
At initial recognition, the Group will measure financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value, increased 
or decreased – if the financial asset or the financial liability is not measured at fair value through profit or 
loss – with the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuing or acquiring of the financial 
asset or the financial liability. 
 
At initial recognition, usually the best proof of fair value is the transaction price, i.e. the fair value of the 
consideration given or received. 
 
If the initial transaction price is different from the initial fair value of the asset, the initial difference must be 
recognized as follows: 

a) if the initial fair value was determined on the basis of information listed on active markets 
or based exclusively on observable information, the initial difference must be accounted 
for in the profit or loss 

b) if fair value was not determined on the basis of information included in a), the initial fair 
value difference must be accrued and after the initial recognition it may only be recognized 
in the profit or loss to the extent corresponding with the changes of that particular factor 
(including time) that market players would take into consideration during pricing. 

 
Cash flow changes 
In cases where unexpected cash flow changes occur compared to the original contract or schedule, and 
where such changes are not negligible, the cash flows related to the financial asset must be re-estimated 
and discounted with the current (latest calculated) effective interest rate (in the case of POCI transactions 
with the effective interest rate adjusted with credit risk).  
The difference between the amortized cost prior to and following the calculation should be credited or 
charged to the profit or loss in the line ‘Net modification gain/(loss)’.  If the unexpected cash flow change 
is related to a change in the client’s credit risk (therefore impairment will need to be accounted for), the 
accounting policy decisions related to the impairment of financial assets are to be applied. 
 
Calculating the adjusted effective interest rate 
If the Group purchases or creates financial assets which are impaired at initial recognition, the initial 
effective interest rate must reflect the expected loss in the planned cash flows and the impairment must 
always be estimated based on the expected loss for the entire lifespan. 
 
Methodology of impairment 
The Group fundamentally includes all its financial assets that belong to the AC and FVTOCI categories in 
the calculation of impairment. The carrying value of financial assets will be decreased with the use of an 
allowance account, losses will be recognized in the profit and loss statement. If a write-off is realized later 
on, the revenue will be recognized as reversal. 
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2.6.1 Categories of the Group’s financial instruments   
 
The Group has the following financial assets: 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss: 

 Financial assets held for trading: 
- Derivative transactions (positive fair value) 
- Securities recorded in the trading book 

 Non-trading financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss: 
- Loans measured at fair value 
- Open-ended investment units, listed shares 

 Derivative transactions – Hedge accounting 
 
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income: 

 Securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
 
Financial assets at measured at amortized cost: 

 Placements with other banks 
 Loans measured at amortized cost 

 
The Group has the following financial liabilities: 
 
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss: 

 Financial liabilities held for trading: 
- Derivative transactions (negative fair value) 

 Derivative transactions – Hedge accounting 
 

Non-trading financial liabilities mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss: 
 Issued mortgage bonds 

 
Financial liabilities at amortized cost (other financial liabilities): 

 Due to banks 
 Deposits 
 Issued mortgage bonds 

 
2.6.2 Cash and cash equivalents  
 
For the purpose of the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash, 
account receivables from the National Bank of Hungary (excluding the compulsory reserve established by 
the National Banks), and other receivables from banks. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents are presented in the statement of financial position at amortized cost. 
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2.6.3 Financial assets held for trading   
 
The business objective for holding securities measured at fair value through profit or loss is to obtain short-
term gains on selling or repurchasing them, therefore changes in fair value are recognized in ‘Gain/(loss) 
on financial assets and liabilities’. Interest and similar to interest income derived from financial instruments 
held for trading is similarly to instruments measured at amortized cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income is recognized in ‘Interest and similar to interest income’, while dividend income is 
recognized in ‘Gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities’. 
 
2.6.4 Derivative transactions   
 
Derivatives are initially recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is positive or as 
liabilities when their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in the line 
‘Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities’. Interest and similar to interest income and expenses 
received from derivatives are included in the line ‘Net Interest income’. 
 
In accordance with the purpose of the particular derivative transaction, the Group classifies derivative 
transactions into three categories: 

- Derivatives transactions held for trading 
- Derivatives transactions marked in hedging relationship 
- Embedded derivatives transactions (unless falling under IFRS 4) 

 
The Group generally enters to the following derivative transactions: forwards, futures, foreign currency 
swaps (FXS), interest rate swaps (IRS), cross-currency interest rate swaps (CCIRS) and options. 
 
2.6.5 Hedging transactions   
 
Hedging transactions are used to manage risks arised from interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks, 
including exposures arising from forecast transactions and firm commitments. In order to manage 
particular risks, the Group applies hedge accounting under the specific rules of IFRS 9 for transactions 
which meet specified criteria.  
 
When the hedge contract is concluded, the Group drafts the hedge document that sets forth the 
relationship between the hedge transaction and the hedge instrument. This document describes the nature 
of the risk as well as the risk management objectives and strategies. The hedge document sets forth the 
method of measuring hedge effectiveness. 
 
Once a hedging relationship is established, the Group assesses whether the hedging transaction is 
expected to be effective in the long term in meeting the fair value attributable to the risk hedged or in 
offsetting cash flow changes. Hedging transactions and relationships are reviewed by the responsible 
functional department of the Group on a regular monthly basis. A hedging transaction is considered 
effective if, as a result of the risk hedged, the fair value or the result of the hedge offsetting the cash flow 
change is within a range of 80-125% in the period to which the hedge refers. According to paragraph 
7.2.21 of IFRS 9 the Group applies the accounting requirements of IAS 39 for hedge accounting. 
 
For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into two categories by the Group: 
(a) fair value hedges which hedge the exposure to changes in the market value of a recognized asset or 
liability; and  
(b) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a forecast transaction. 
 
The Group does not have net investment hedges in foreign operations. 
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Changes in the fair value of hedges that are designated as fair value hedges, and that prove to be highly 
effective in relation to the hedged risk, are recorded in profit or loss along with the corresponding change 
in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is attributable to the specific hedged risk.  
 
In relation to cash flow hedges, which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or 
loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognized initially in the 
other comprehensive income item. The gain or loss on effective cash flow hedges recorded in other 
comprehensive income is either recorded in the profit or loss statement for the period in which the hedged 
transaction affects the profit or loss, or is included in the cost of the related asset or liability. The ineffective 
portion is recognized in the profit or loss statement. 
 
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument is expired, terminated, exercised, or no 
longer qualifies for hedge accounting. At that point in time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument recognized in other comprehensive income remains in other comprehensive income until the 
forecast transaction occurs. Where the hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative 
gain or loss recognized in other comprehensive income is transferred to the profit/loss for the period.  
 
The following lines in the profit or loss statement contain the gains or losses in connection with the hedging 
instruments of hedges (swaps): 

- Net interest income  
- Gains/(losses) on financial assets and liabilities  

 
Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of transactions which, from the point of view of 
risk management, qualify as hedging transactions (economic hedges), and which do not qualify for hedge 
accounting in terms of accounting, are recorded directly in the profit or loss statement. 
 
2.6.6 Securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income  
 
Debt securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) are held within a 
business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting of contractual cash flows and selling 
securities, and the contractual terms of these securities grant the right to collect the outstanding principal 
and the interest on the outstanding capital on specific dates. Securities are initially recorded at fair value 
on a settlement date basis. Subsequent measurement of debt securities at fair value through other 
comprehensive income occurs at fair value at the subsequent reporting dates. Unrealized gains and losses 
(fair value difference) on securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income are 
recognized directly in other comprehensive income, while interest and foreign exchange gains/losses on 
these items are recognized in separate profit or loss statements.  
 
The equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income include the equity 
instruments, where the Group irrevocably elects to designate as at FVTOCI in accordance with IFRS 9. 
Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive are subsequently measured at 
fair value and the Group recognizes the subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income.  
 
The dividend from equity instruments is recorded by the Group as income in the profit or loss . 
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2.6.7 Financial instruments measured at amortized cost  
 
Loans, securities, placements with and receivables from other banks, which are held by the Group to 
collect contractual cash flows are recognized at amortized cost, the contractual terms of these financial 
instruments generate cash flows at certain dates that are payments solely for the principal and the interest 
due on the amount of outstanding principal. 
 
The Group initially recognises its loans and receivables at amortized cost at the fair value, decreased or 
increased with the costs of transaction that can be directly linked to acquiring or originating the receivables. 
 
In the case of debt securities, the interest included in the purchase price accumulated until the date of 
purchase is not separated at initial recognition, it is included in the cost of the securities.  
 
In the case of variable rate instruments, when applying the effective interest rate method, the Group 
generally amortizes the fees, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts taken into consideration 
for calculating the effective interest rate during the expected lifespan of the instrument. 
 
The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortization using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortized cost of a financial asset before 
adjusting for any loss. 
 
2.6.8 Forborne loans 
   
In case of defaulting clients, the Group, where possible, favors restructuring the loans provided to the 
clients instead of the foreclosure of the collateral. Renegotiated loans may be restructured by extending 
the term of the loan and/or by entering into new agreements on the loan conditions. The Group does not 
measure any significant gain or loss on the restructuring of the loans. 
 
The management of the Group continuously monitors renegotiated loans to ensure all terms and 
conditions are met and to secure future cash payments. Impairment of restructured loans is set up on an 
individual as well as on a portfolio basis, by applying the original effective interest rate of the loan. 
In the case of renegotiated loans, the rating of the clients (and eventually the loss) may improve if the 
clients start to pay their instalments as scheduled. The constructions provided by the Hungarian State’s 
program (converted HUF loans etc.) are also treated as restructured loans, even if there were no payment 
problems in respect of the original transaction. 
 
When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or otherwise modified and the 
renegotiation or modification does not result the derecognition of the financial asset, the Group shall 
recalculate the gross carrying amount of the financial asset and shall recognize the gain or loss resulting 
from the modification in the profit or loss. The gross carrying amount of the financial asset shall be 
recalculated as the present value of the renegotiated or modified contractual cash flows that are 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. 
 
When the contractual cash flows of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified and the financial asset 
is not derecognized, the Group determines if the financial asset’s credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition. If the credit risk remains significantly higher than what was expected at initial 
recognition, impairment will continue to be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.  
  



 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 

 (Every amount is expressed in HUF million, any differences shall be marked separately. The thousands separator is a 
comma, negative numbers are in brackets.) 

 

26 

Impairment loss on restructured loans will generally be measured based on 12-month expected credit loss 
when there is evidence of the borrower’s improved repayment behaviour following the modification, leading 
to a reversal of the previously significant increase in credit risk. 
 
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting 
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition. In 
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is 
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is 
available without undue cost or effort.  
 
Forwardlooking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s 
debtors operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant 
think-tanks and other similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual 
and forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s core operations. 
 
In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition: 

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating; 

- significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular financial 
instrument; 

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations (i.e the 
debtor has 30 or more days past due related to the financial instrument); 

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 
- significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; and 
- an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its 
debt obligations. 

 
Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date.  
 
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if: 

- the financial instrument has a low risk of default; 
- the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; 
- adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not 

necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 
 
The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due. 
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2.6.9 Impairment losses on loans   
 
Impairment losses on loans and placements with other banks are recognized by the Group based on the 
expected credit loss model in accordance with IFRS 9 standards. 
 
Based on the three-stage model, allowance for impairment is recognized at an amount equal to 12-month 
expected credit loss (ECL) from the initial recognition, unless purchased or originated credit-impaired 
financial assets (POCI). On financial assets with significantly increased credit risk from initial recognition 
or on credit-impaired financial assets (based on objective evidences), provision for impairment is 
recognized in the amount of lifetime expected credit loss (ECL). If an asset, by definition, qualifies as non-
performing, it enters stage 3. 
 

- Stage 1 (performing): loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit loss should 
be recognized 

- Stage 2 (significant increase in credit risk): loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit loss should be recognized. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. Criterias for significant increase in credit risk are listed in 
chapter ‘2.6.8 Forborne loans’. 

- Stage 3 (non-performing): loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss 
should be recognized. Please see definition of default in chapter ‘3.2.6 Credit risk’. 

 
For lifetime ECL, an entity shall estimate the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument during 
its expected life. 12-month ECL losses are a portion of the lifetime ECL and represent the lifetime cash 
shortfalls that will result if a default occurs in the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if 
the expected life of a financial instrument is less than 12 months), weighted by the probability of that default 
occuring. 
 
The Group, in accordance with the IFRS 9 section related to impairment, determines a POCI asset as one 
that was already impaired at initial recognition (i.e. it fulfils the definition of ‘non-performing’). POCI assets 
shall be initially recognized at reduced value and shall remain recognized subsequently in the balance 
sheet at amortized cost with the adjusted effective interest rate. During the next valuation, the changes in 
lifetime expected credit loss shall be recognized in the profit or loss statement. 
 
For the determination of impairment of trade and lease receivables, the Group uses the simplified approach. 
The calculation of the expected credit loss is based on provision matrix, using historical credit loss 
experience. 
 
2.6.10 Derecognition of financial instruments  
 
Derecognition of financial assets 
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when transfers the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of 
a financial asset (the 'original asset'), or retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of a financial 
asset, but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to one or more recipients (the ’eventual 
recipients’), the Group treats the transaction as a transfer of a financial asset if, and only if, all of the following 
three conditions are met: 

- The Group has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it collects equivalent 
amounts from the original asset. Short-term advances by the entity with the right of full recovery of 
the amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates do not violate this condition. 
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- The Group is prohibited by the terms of the transfer contract from selling or pledging the original 
asset other than as security to the eventual recipients for the obligation to pay them cash flows. 

- The Group has an obligation to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients 
without material delay. In addition, the Group is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for 
investments in cash or cash equivalents during the short settlement period from the collection date 
to the date of required remittance to the eventual recipients, and interest earned on such investments 
is passed to the eventual recipients. 
 

When the Group transfers a financial asset, it shall evaluate the extent to which it retains the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset. 
 
The Group examines the following before derecognition: 

- if the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the 
Group shall derecognize the financial asset and recognize separately as assets or liabilities any 
rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer, 

- if the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the 
Group shall continue to recognize the financial asset, 

- if the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset, the Group shall determine whether it has retained control of the financial asset.  
In this case: 

 if the Group has not retained control, it shall derecognize the financial asset and recognize 
separately as assets or liabilities any rights and obligations created or retained in the transfer, 

 if the Group has retained control, it shall continue to recognize the financial asset to the extent 
of its continuing involvement in the financial asset. 

 
The extent of the Group's continuing involvement in the transferred asset is the extent to which the Group is 
exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset.  
 
The transfer of risks and rewards is evaluated by comparing the Group’s exposure, before and after the 
transfer, with the variability in the amounts and timing of the net cash flows of the transferred asset. The 
computation and comparison are made using the current market interest rate as discount rate. All reasonably 
possible variability in net cash flows is considered, with greater weight being given to those outcomes that 
are more likely to occur.  
 
The Group has retained substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset if its exposure 
to the variability in the present value of the future net cash flows from the financial asset does not change 
significantly as a result of the transfer. 
 
An entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial asset if its exposure 
to such variability is no longer significant in relation to the total variability in the present value of the future 
net cash flows associated with the financial asset.  
 
Asset transfers holding all or substantially all of the risks and rewards could be for example repo transactions 
(for repo transactions, the Group considers whether the risks and rewards incurred in the transaction are 
substantially transferred or not). 
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Derecognition due to significant changes in contractual cash flows 
 
The terms are substantially different if under the new terms the present value discounted at the original 
effective interest rate of the cash flows – including fees received and paid – is at least 10% different from the 
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial asset. If the exchange of debt 
instruments or the modification of the terms is treated as derecognition, the Group will recognize any costs 
or fees incurred as a gain or loss related to the termination of the asset. If the exchange or modification is 
not accounted for as derecognition, the costs or fees incurred will modify the carrying amount of the asset 
and will be amortized over the remaining maturity of the modified loan.  
 
The Group considers it a significant change if the contractual currency is modified, or if the contractual interest 
rate is changed from variable to fix, or inversely. In case the condition is met, management may consider the 
necessity of derecognition and recognize it as a new asset / liability based on the specific characteristics of 
the asset, so that the condition does not result an immediate, unconditional derecognition of the financial 
asset. 
 
Write-off of financial assets under legal proceeding 
 
Loans which are under legal proceeding (bankruptcy, liquidation and final proceedings) and in case of 
enforcement collateral transactions: 

- the Group’s contractual right to receive cash flows from the financial asset does not expire, 
- the Group did not transfer the right of collecting cash flows from the financial asset, 
- the Group did not assume any obligation to pay the cash flows from the financial asset, 

 
Therefore the Group does not derecognize such items entirely from its books, but may partially derecognize 
them. 
 
When the Group can reasonably not expect to recover part of the financial asset while maintaining the legal 
claim, it is considered as a partial recognition. In such cases, the Group directly reduces the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset. After the legal waiver of the claim, the Group may write down the total gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset if it is not able to be recovered and void according to the relevant 
internal rules (in this case there is no legal claim). 
 
Derecognition of financial liabilities 
 
The Group removes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) from its statement of financial position 
when, and only when, it is extinguished – when the obligation specified in the contract is fulfilled or cancelled 
or expires. Exchange between an existing borrower and lender of debt instruments with substantially different 
terms shall be accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a 
new financial liability. Similarly, a substantial modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part 
of it (whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty of the debtor) shall be accounted for as an 
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are 
substantially different if under the new terms the present value discounted at the original effective interest 
rate of the cash flows – including fees received and paid – is at least 10% different from the discounted 
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If the exchange of debt instruments 
or the modification of the terms is treated as derecognition, the Group will recognize any costs or fees 
incurred as a gain or loss related to the termination of the liability. If the exchange or modification is not 
accounted for as derecognition, the costs or fees incurred will modify the current amount of the liability and 
will be amortized over the remaining maturity of the modified loan or financial liability. 
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2.7 Associates and joint ventures 
 
The Group separately reports its interest in associates and joint ventures that are consolidated according 
to the equity method. 
 
Associates are economic entities in which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a 
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the operating 
and financial policy decisions of the entity, but is not control or joint control over those policies. 
 
Joint ventures are shared business arrangements wherby the parties that have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed 
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require 
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. 
 
2.8 Leases   
 
The Group assessed all lease contracts under IFRS 16 whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.  
Determination of whether an agreement is a lease agreement or contains a lease transaction is based on 
its contents. The Group analyses agreements to decide whether delivery under the agreement involves 
the use of a specific asset or assets and transfers the right to use such assets.  
 
The Group revises whether a contract is a lease or whether it contains a lease only when the terms of the 
contract have changed. The Group does not apply the provisions of the IFRS 16 Lease Standard for 
intangible assets. 
 
The Group as a lessee 
 
The Group as lessee shall recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date 
of the lease agreement. Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost. The cost of a right-of-use asset 
comprises:  

 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liabilities; 
 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date; 
 any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and 
 estimates of costs to be incurred by the lessee as a result of an obligation to disassemble and 

remove an underlying asset or to carry out restoration 
 less any lease incentives received. 

 
After the commencement date, the Group shall measure the right-of-use asset applying a cost model. The 
Group depreciates the right-of-use asset using the straight-line method from the commencement date to 
the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The 
determination of the useful life of the right-of-use assets are presented similar to owned property, plant, 
equipment and vehicles. The Group applies IAS 36 Impairment of Assets standard to determine whether 
the right-of-use asset is impaired, and to recognise any impairment loss identified in accordance with the 
standard. 
 
The Group values the lease obligation as the present value of lease payments not paid up to that date, 
discounted by the implicit lease interest rate of the lease, where it can be easily determined. If this interest 
rate is difficult to determine, the Group applies incremental borrowing rate.  
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The lease payments taken into account in the leasing obligation shall be the following amounts due for the 
right to use the underlying asset during the lease term and not paid up to the commencement date: 

 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; 
 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate (initially measured using the index or 

rate as at the commencement date); 
 amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees; 
 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; 
 payments of contractual penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease period reflects that the 

Group used the option of terminating the lease; 
 less any lease incentives receivable. 

 
After the commencement date, the Group shall measure the lease liability by: 

 increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; 
 reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and 
 remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect 

revised in-substance fixed lease payments. 
 
The Group shall remeasure the lease liability, if either: 

 there is a change in the lease term; or 
 there is a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset; or 
 there is a change in the amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; or 
 there is a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate used to 

determine those payments. 
 
The Group shall recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease payments as an adjustment to 
the right-of-use asset. However, if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to zero and 
there is a further reduction in the measurement of the lease liability, the Group shall recognise any 
remaining amount of the remeasurement in profit or loss. 
 
The Group did not present the right-of-use assets separately in the statement of financial position that 
does not meet the definition of investment property include right-of-use assets within the same line item 
as that within which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they were owned. The 
Group are presented lease liabilities in the statement of financial position as financial liabilities measured 
at amortized cost. 
 
For every leased asset, the Group exercises the facilitating possibilities provided by the standard, i.e. it 
does not separate non-lease components from lease components and recognizes individual lease 
components and the related non-lease components as a single lease component. 
 
In accordance with the exemption exceptions permitted by the Standard, the Group has decided not to 
apply the requirements of the standard to short-term leases and leases of low value assets. For these 
leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.  
 
The Group does not have the right to use assets for investment purposes. 
 
In the cash flow statement, payments relating to the principal part of the lease obligation are included in 
the financing activities, fees for short-term leases, fees for small-value leases and variable lease payments 
not included in the valuation of the lease obligation are classified as operating activities. 
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Interest payments are classified as operating activities in the cash flow statement in accordance with the 
provisions of IAS 7. 
 
The Group, as a lessee, typically has real estate leasing contracts. 
 
The Group as a lessor 
 
Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms 
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is 
classified as a finance lease.  
 
When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate 
the consideration under the contract to each component. The Group shall recognise lease payments from 
operating leases as income in profit or loss on a straight-line basis. 
 
The Group does not have sublease, sale and leaseback transactions.  
 
2.9 Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 
 
Tangible (fixed) and intangible assets are presented at cost, less accumulated depreciation, and less 
impairment if any. 
 
The cost of an item of tangible and intangible assets includes the following elements: 

a) its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting 
trade discounts and; 

b) any costs directly attributable for the assets to be ready their intended use: 
- costs of employee benefits, 
- costs of site preparation, 
- delivery and handling costs, 
- insurance fees, 
- installation and assembly costs, 
- costs of testing, 
- professional fees, 
- costs of parts and maintenance equipments. 

c) the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item. 
 
Following elements of costs that are not costs of an item of tangible asset are: 

- costs of opening a new facility, 
- costs of introducing a new product or service, 
- costs of conducting business in a new location or with a new class of customer, 
- administration and other general overhead costs. 

 
Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item ceases when the item is in the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Therefore, costs that 
incurred while an item capable of his intended operating has yet to be brought into use or is operated at 
less than full capacity are not included in the carrying amount. Furthermore neither initial operating losses 
nor costs of relocating or reorganising the Group's operations are not included. 
 
Depreciation is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period to which it relates.  
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Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives and residual 
values of the assets, as follows: 
 

Property rights     3.5 - 25% 
Sofwares    10% - 33.33% 
Buildings    0%- 2% 
Bulinding constructions   6% - 14.7% 
Equipments     9% - 50% 
Vehicles    10% - 33% 
Other fixed assets   7% - 50% 

 
Intangible assets have a definite useful life, excluding goodwill. 
 
2.10 Non-current assets held for sale   
 
The Group classifies a non-current asset (or a disposal group) as held for sale, if its carrying amount will 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction, rather than through continuing use. The asset (or 
disposal group) must be available for immediate sale in its present condition and the sale must be highly 
probable. The Group must be committed to the sale which should be expected to qualify for recognition 
as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification. 
 
The Group measures a non-current asset (or disposal group) classified as held for sale at the lower of its 
carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell on initial recognition at the date of classification as held for 
sale. An entity shall not depreciate (or amortize) a non-current asset while it is classified as held for sale 
or while it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale.  
 
2.11 Provisions and contingent liabilities, contingent assets   
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and a reliable estimation can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
Provisions are obligations for an unspecified schedule or for unspecified amounts. The amount recorded 
as provision is the closest estimation about the expense becoming necessary to fulfil the existing obligation 
at the end of the reporting period. Recognized provisions and the necessity of additional provisions are 
revised quarterly. 
 
To determine whether a specific, litigated obligation necessitates provisioning, the Group examines 
whether the following conditions are met: 
 

- an obligation resulting from a past event; 
- probability (> 50%) that an outflow of assets representing economic benefits will be necessary to 

settle the obligation; 
- a reliable estimation can be made to quantify the amount of the obligation. 

 
In case the above-mentioned conditions are not met, in accordance with the provisions of the IAS 37 
standard, the Group does not recognize the provision. 
 
The Group recognises provisions through the Profit or Loss category to which they relate. Provisions can 
be generally recognized for guarantees provided, unused holidays, litigation cases, expected liabilities in 
relation to tax inspections, disadvantageous agreements, and restructuring. 
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Contingent liabilities / contingent assets 
 
The Group maintains its contingent liabilities in its off-balance sheet records and does not present them in 
the financial position statement. Pending cases that the Group involved in are published in the Notes. The 
Group's contingent liabilities are constantly monitored, when an increased likelihood that the fulfilment of 
an obligation previously treated as a contingent liability involves an outflow of assets, the Group shall make 
a provision for its amount and display it in the statement of financial position. 
 
The Group maintains its contingent assets in its off-balance sheet records and does not presenting them 
in the financial position statements since this may result in the recognition of income that may never be 
realised. However, when the realisation of income is virtually certain, then the related asset is not a 
contingent asset and it may be recognised in the financial statements. 
 
2.12 Financial guarantees issued 
 
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holder for the loss incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due, in 
accordance with the original or modified terms and conditions of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee 
contracts are initially recorded and measured at fair value less (or plus) directly related costs of transaction 
and are to be accounted for as financial liabilities. For financial guarantees which are under IFRS 9 the 
amount of loss allowance is calculated based on expected credit loss model. 
 
The fee of the financial guarantee contract is accounted for in ’Income from fees and commissions’ during 
the term of the guarantee, pro rata temporis. The Group recognises the increase or decrease (based on 
ECL) in the liability resulting from the financial guarantee in ’Credit losses’. 
 
2.13 Classification into financial liabilities or shareholders’ equity 
 
At the Group, the following criteria are considered on the basis of the contractual clauses of the related 
agreements especially in the case of bonds issued as supplementary basic equity instruments, 
subordinated loan capital, supplementary payments received. 
 
Financial liability is any liability that is: 

a) a contractual obligation: 
i. to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or  
ii. to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that 

are potentially unfavourable to the entity; or 
b) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:  

i. a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of 
the entity’s own equity instruments; or 

ii. a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of 
cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments . 

 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. 
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2.14 Dividend paid on ordinary shares  
 
Dividend paid on ordinary shares is accounted for an obligation and as a decrease in equity, if the payment 
is approved by the General Meeting. Intra-annual dividend decreases the capital of the Group when it is 
registered and when the Group cannot make decisions regarding its amount. The annual dividend, which 
the General Meeting decides after the balance sheet date, is recorded in the statement as post balance 
sheet events. 
 
2.15 Share capital and Treasury shares 
 
Stocks and shares are recognized as shareholders’ equity if the owner does not have an obligation for the 
transfer of cash or another financial asset. Additional costs directly associated with the issuing of equity 
instruments are recognized in the capital as a decrease in the consideration received, net of tax. 
 
If the Group repurchases treasury shares, they are recognized as a separate capital element, as an item 
decreasing shareholders’ equity at repurchase cost. If the Group repurchases its treasury shares, these 
shares need to be recognized separately in shareholders’ equity in Treasury shares, as a negative. The 
Group will record the repurchased treasury shares at the time of a decision by the supreme governing 
body on the repurchasing in Treasury shares. If, as part of the decision on repurchasing, the supreme 
governing body also decides to withdraw the shares, the Group will reclassify the shares affected as 
liabilities from the date of the decision until they are actually withdrawn. 
 

Shares 31 December 2020 

Shares 
description 

Nominal 
value HUF/pc 

Issue value 
HUF/pc 

Number of 
shares (pcs) 

Total face 
value 

Ownership 
ratio (%) 

Total issue 
value 

Series ’A’ shares 1,000 2,000 1,999,992 2,000 3.55 % 4,000 
Series ’A’ shares 
parts 

1,000 10,000 54,400,000 54,400 96.45 % 544,000 

Series ’B’ 
preferred shares 

1,000 2,000 1 0 0 % 0 

Series ’C’ 
preferred shares 

1,000 2,000 6 0 0 % 0 

Series ’D’ 
preferred shares 

1,000 2,000 1 0 0 % 0 

Total 56,400,000 56,400 100% 548,000 
 
2.16 Reserves   
 
Share premium 
 
Share premium comprises of premiums on share capital issuances. 
 
Retained earnings 
 
Retained earnings comprise the accumulated profit after taxes earned in the course of the operating life 
of an entity of the Group less any dividend payment. Current financial year’s result cannot be paid as a 
dividend.  
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Revaluation reserves – other comprehensive income 
 
Revaluation reserve of financial assets measured at FVTOCI includes the cumulative net change in the 
fair value until the derecognition. For financial instruments measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, the Group has recognized an impairment loss in accordance with IFRS 9, which 
is shown in the Revaluation reserve. 
 
The Group did not apply any reclassification adjustments relating to components of other comprehensive 
income. 
 
Reorganisation reserve  
 
Negative equity reorganization reserve in the amount of HUF 275,470 million was recognized as a 
consequence of acquisition of BB and MKB in exchange of shares issued by MBH. The reserve represents 
the difference between the value of shares issued by MBH in exchange for the value of shares of the legal 
acquiree MTB. The reorganization reserve is a separate balance sheet line within equity that is solely 
presented in the consolidated financial statements of MBH. The reorganization reserve has no effects on 
solvency capital and the amount of reserve presented in the consolidated financial statements of MBH 
may be modified in case of changes in the legal structure of the Group (merger). 
 
Other reserves  
 
The previous owners of the three Group had transfered their banking shares on 15 December 2020, the 
difference between the apport value and the fair value of the Company, which one was determined by 
independent experts in an maount of HUF 199,000 million, is shown as an increase in other reserves. 
Other reserves are assets in addition to subscribed capital, but do not part of the retained earnings which 
could be used to pay dividends. 
 
General reserve 
 
According to the Act CCXXXVII of 2013 on Credit Institutions and Financial Enterprises (Banking Act), 
banks shall set aside as general reserve 10% of Profit after taxation. Dividends can be paid only after 
recognition of general reserve. This reserve can be utilized only for losses derived from ordinary activity. 
Credit institution can reclassify part or total of its retained earnings into general reserve. Supervisory 
authority can allow the entity not to set aside the amount calculated as above stated. 
 
The Group discloses general reserve as part of other reserves. In 2020, the Group recognized general 
reserve of HUF 5,274 million. 
 
Other reserves in the consolidated statement of financial position include the above mentioned other 
reserves and general reserves.  
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2.17 Net interest income   
 
Interest and interest expense are recognized time-proportionately using the effective interest rate method 
while in case of income similar to interest income this method is not applied. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of 
the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the carrying amount of the financial asset 
or liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example 
prepayment options) and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the 
instrument and are an integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses. The carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises its estimates of payments 
or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original effective interest rate and 
the change in carrying amount is recorded as Interest and similar to interest income or expense. Interest 
and similar to interest income and expenses related to financial instruments are separated by the Group 
based on each financial instruments category. Interest incomes and interest expenses are recognized 
based on gross basis, except for POCI financial assets. 
 
2.18 Fee and Comission income/expense   
 
The Group shall include fees and commission income and expenses that are not involved in the amortized 
cost model. Fees and commisions when they relate and have to be included in the amortized cost model 
shall immediately recognised in profit or loss.  
 
The Group will account for the fees and commissions received as revenue when the performance 
commitments have been satisfied in accordance with the customer contract and the services undertaken 
have been fulfilled for the customers, in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.  
 
Main charges and commissions recognized are the following: 

- annual bank card fees, merchant fees, related loyalty programs, 
- fee income related to investment services, 
- commissions from mediated insurances, 
- account management and transaction fees related to deposits, 
- underwriting fees, consultancy fees related to investment banking activities, 
- management, completion, administrative, trading fees related to private banking activities. 

 
2.19 Result of trading activity and fair value measurement 
 
The Group recognizes within this profit or loss category the fair value through profit or loss created on its 
FVTPL financial instruments, exchange rate differences and gains and losses arising from sales. The 
interest income generated are recognized in the Interest and similar to interest income and Interest 
expense lines. 
 
The profit or loss items of the following instruments determined above are recognized here: 

- financial instruments held for trading 
- FVTPL instruments not held for trading: 
 financial instruments mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss 
 financial instruments designated as measured at fair value through profit or loss 

 
2.20 Profits and losses resulting from the derecognition of financial instruments 
 
In this category, the Group recognizes its profits and losses resulting from the derecognition of financial 
instruments measured at amortized cost and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. 
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2.21 Profits and losses resulting from sale and screpping of non-finanancial instruments 
 
In this line, the Group presents the profit and loss items arising from sale and scrapping in the case of the 
following asset classes: 

- Property, machinery and equipment 
- Intangible assets 
- Other assets 

 
2.22 Employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefits, such as wages, salaries and social security contributions, paid annual leave 
and paid sick leave are settled in the period in which the employees render the related service. Under the 
Group’s policy, the employer must grant employees their paid leave in the period the leave is earned, 
except for the paid leave emerges during maternity leave.  
 
Deferment of the expected cost of leave is applicable to the Group and its subsidiaries, but this cost is 
recognized only if it is material. 
 
Long-term employee benefits  
  
The Group does not provide post-employment benefits to its employees (defined contribution plans and 
defined benefit plans). 
 
In the normal course of business the Group pays fixed contributions into the Hungarian State and private 
pension funds on its employees, which is recognized in social security contributions and which cannot be 
considered as employee benefit plan. The Group itself does not offer a pension scheme or post-retirement 
benefit plan, and consequently has no legal or contractual obligation to make further contributions. 
 
2.23 Other banking costs 
 
The Group primarily recognizes the following cost types in this line of the income statement: 

- IT costs 
- consultancy, expert fees, audit 
- marketing costs 
- property and asset lease fees 
- temporary agency work, recruitment 
- mailing, couriers, telecommunications 
- administrative services 
- property and asset maintenance 
- expenses of the card business line 
- agency services 
- ATM operation 
- banking security 
- travelling, accommodation, transportation 
- database, professional literature 
- CIT transportation 
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2.24 Other operating income and expense 
 
In this line of the income statement, the Group recognizes direct operating costs; lease fee revenues 
related to operating leases, expenses related to low-value and short-term leases, other operating income 
and expenses directly not related to the activities of financial institutions. Other operating income and 
expenses are recognized on a gross basis. 
 
2.25 Income tax   
 
The income tax consists of current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income, except if it is associated with items directly recognized in shareholders’ equity, in 
which case it is recognized in shareholders’ equity. Out of the taxes payable to and recoverable from the 
tax authorities, current tax includes the corporate income tax, local business tax and innovation 
contribution. Current tax is recognized in the amount payable to, expected to be payable to or expected to 
be returned by the tax administration. Current tax payment obligation is determined by applying the tax 
rates and tax legislation in effect on the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax basis of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. All deferred tax liabilities 
are recognized.  
 
Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which it can be utilized.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the enacted tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled.  
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current taxes liabilities and the deferred tax relate to the same company and the same tax authority 
and the Group intends to settle them on a net basis. 
 
2.26 Retroactive adjustments, reclassifications    
 
The Group applies voluntary adjustments to the accounting policy retroactively, and it also applies 
corrections to errors in earlier periods through retroactive adjustments. Therefore, comparative information 
from earlier periods are presented in line with the new accounting policy, and as if the earlier errors has 
never been occurred. No retroactive adjustements or reclassifications in the current year financial 
statements. 
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2.27 The effect of adopting new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards effective 
from 1 January 2020. 
 
The following amendments to the existing standards and new interpretation issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the EU are effective for the current reporting period: 
 
 Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards – adopted by EU 

on 29 November 2019 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020), 
 
 Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and IAS 8 “Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” - Definition of Material – adopted by EU on 29 
November 2019 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020), 

 
 Amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement”, IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” – Interest rate Benchmark 
Reform - adopted by EU on 15 January 2020 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2020), 

 
 Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” – Covid 19-Related Rent Concessions adopted by EU on 9 

October 2020 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020), 
 
 Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” – adopted by EU on 21 April 2020 (effective for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020). 
 
The adoption of these amendments to the existing standards has not led to any material changes in the 
Group’s financial statements (IBOR reform). 
 
2.28 A New and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by IASB and adopted by the EU but 
not yet effective 
 
 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 

– Phase 2 adopted by EU on 13 January 2021 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2021), 

 Amendments to IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” deferral of IFRS 9 adopted by EU on 15 December 
2020 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021). 

 
The Group anticipates that the adoption of these new standards, amendments to the existing standards 
and new interpretations will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group in the 
period of initial application.  
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2.29 Standards and Interpretations issued by IASB but not yet adopted by the EU 
 
At present, IFRS as adopted by the EU do not significantly differ from regulations adopted by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) except for the following new standards, amendments to 
the existing standards and new interpretation, which were not endorsed for use in EU as at the date of 
publiacation of the financial statements (the effective dates stated below is for IFRS in full): 
 
 IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” including amendments to IFRS 17 (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 
 
 Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” - Classification of Liabilities as 

Current or Non-Current (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 
 

 Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”; IAS 16 “Property, Plant and Equipment”; 
IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets” - Annual Improvements 
(effective fog annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022), 

 
 Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” and IFRS Practice Statement 2 - 

Disclosure of Accounting policies (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 
 

 Amendments to IAS 8 “Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” – 
Definition of Accounting Estimates (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023), 

 
 Amendments to IFRS 16 “Leases” - Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 

(effective 1 April 2021), 
 

 Amendments to IAS 12 “Income Taxes” – Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising 
from a Single Transaction (effective 1 January 2023), 

 
 Amendments to IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” and IAS 28 “Investments in 

Associates and Joint Ventures” - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture and further amendments (effective date deferred indefinitely until the 
research project on the equity method has been concluded), 

 
 IFRS 14 “Regulatory Deferral Accounts” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2016) - the European Commission has decided not to launch the endorsement process of 
this interim standard and to wait for the final standard. 

 
The Group anticipates that the adoption of these new standards, amendments to the existing standards 
and new interpretations will have no material impact on the financial statements of the Group in the period 
of initial application. 
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2.30 Determining subsidiaries 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Parent and entities 
controlled by the Parent. Control is achieved when  MBH has the power over the investee, is exposed, or 
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; has the ability to use its power to 
affects its returns.  
 
The consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2020 incorporate the assets and liabilities of its 
subsidiaries, however the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income reflects the profit 
and loss and other comprehensive income of MBH and the MTB Group. Since the acquisition took place 
at the end of the reporting period, the current year’s consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income includes the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of MBH and MTB 
Group (legal acquiree). The previous year’s comparative information in the financial statements represent 
the MTB Group (legal acquiree).  
 
The following table lists the subsidiaries involved in the consolidation: 
 

Name of company Method of involvement 

MBH Magyar Bankholding Zrt. Parent company 
Budapest Bank Zrt.  Subsidiary 
Budapest Eszközfinanszírozó Zrt. Subsidiary 
Budapest Lízing Zrt. Subsidiary 
Budapest Alapkezelő Zrt. Subsidiary 
MKB Bank Nyrt. Subsidiary 
MKB Üzemeltetési Kft. Subsidiary 
Euro-Immat Kft. Subsidiary 
MKB Digital Szolgáltató Zrt. Subsidiary 
MKB- Euroleasing Autólízing Szolgáltató Zrt. Subsidiary 
MKB Bank MRP Szervezet Subsidiary 
Takarékinfo Központi Adatfeldolgozó Zrt. Subsidiary 
MA-TAK-EL Zrt.  Subsidiary 
MTB Zrt. Subsidiary 
Takarék Jelzálogbank Nyrt. Subsidiary 
Takarék Lizing Zrt. Subsidiary 
Takarék Ingatlan Zrt. Subsidiary 
Takarék INVEST Kft. Subsidiary 
TIFOR Takarék Ingatlanforgalmazó Zrt. Subsidiary 
Takarék Faktorház Zrt. Subsidiary 
Takarék Központi Követelés Kezelő Zrt. Subsidiary 
Takinfo Kft. Subsidiary 
Takarék Zártkörű Befektetési Alap Subsidiary 
Takarék Mezőgazdasági és Fejlesztési Magántőkealap Subsidiary 
Takarék Kockázati Tőkealap Subsidiary 
OPUS Tm1  Subsidiary 
Takarékbank Zrt. Subsidiary 
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2.31 Changes in the legal environment and their impact on individual statements 
 
The following government regulations and other legal regulatory instruments have had an impact on the 
activities of the Company's subsidiaries in the event of an emergency declared as a result of the outbreak 
of the new type of coronavirus (COVID-19): 
 

- Government Decree No. 47/2020 (III. 18.) on immediate measures necessary for alleviating the 
effects of the coronavirus pandemic on national economy, Government Decree No. 57/2020 (III. 
23.) on enforcement measures, and Government Decree No. 62/2020 (III. 24) on detailed rules 
concerning payment moratorium; 

 
- MNB Decree No. 5/2020 (III. 19.) of the Governor of the National Bank of Hungary (MNB) on the 

amendment of certain MNB decrees defining the requirements necessary for reducing systemic 
liquidity risks; 

 
- Government Decree No. 637/2020 (XII.21.) on the introduction of the special rules of the payment 

moratorium related to the state of emergency. 
 
2.32 Significant accounting estimates and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in previous sections, the Management of 
the Group required to make judgements and estimates. The estimates and associated assumptions are 
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. 
 
The followings are the critical judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements: 
 
Allowances for credit losses 
 
General principles about evaluation for impairment of assets accounted for at amortized cost are described 
in section “2.6.9 Impairment losses on loans”. 
 
The specific counterparty component of the total allowances for impairment applies to financial assets 
evaluated individually for impairment and is based upon management’s best estimate of the present value 
of the cash flows that are expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes 
judgements about a counterparty’s financial situation and the net realisable value of any underlying 
collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed on its merits, and the workout strategy and estimate of cash 
flows considered recoverable are independently approved by the Credit Risk function. 
 
Collectively assessed impairment allowances cover credit losses inherent in portfolios of loans and 
advances with similar credit risk characteristics when there is objective evidence to suggest that they 
contain impaired loans and advances but the individual impaired items cannot yet be identified. In 
assessing the need for collective loss allowances, management considers factors such as credit quality, 
portfolio size, concentrations and economic factors. In order to estimate the required allowance, 
assumptions are made to define the way inherent losses are modelled and to determine the required input 
parameters, based on historical experience and current economic conditions. The accuracy of the 
allowances depends on the estimates of future cash flows for specific counterparty allowances and the 
model assumptions and parameters used in determining collective allowances. 
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Uncertain or unanticipated future events could result in material adjustments to provisions or additional 
allowances. The accounting values determined are not fair values or market prices that might be 
determined if the underlying assets are sold to a third party. 
 
Valuation of instruments without direct quotations 
 
The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no observable market 
price requires the use of valuation techniques as described in accounting policy. For financial instruments 
that trade infrequently and have little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying 
degrees of judgement depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing 
assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument. Please see valuation methods of financial 
instruments in section „2.5 Determining fair value”. 
 
2.33 Accessibility of the Consolidated Financial Statement and Business report 
 
The Group's consolidated business report is not part of the Concolidated Financial Statements, however 
the Group prepares and ensures the accessibility to interested parties each year at its: 
 
Headquarter:  18, Kassak Lajos Street, Budapest 1134. 
Website:  https://www.magyarbankholding.hu 
 
Auditor company 

Deloitte Könyvvizsáló és Tanácsadó Kft. 
 

Statutory registered auditor 
Gábor Molnár 

 
Responsible person for the control and management of accounting services: 

Róbert Winkler – Head of Consolidation and Reporting Department 
Gyöngyi Rétiné Pusztai 
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3. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
3.1 Introduction 
 
Risk Management consists of “active” and “passive” methods as follows: 
 
Active management 
Active risk management by the Group means those activities of its business operations (pricing, 
developing new products etc.) and transactions with which positions exposed to risk can be actively 
managed, controlled, and which are therefore suitable to reduce/hedge risks. 
 
Passive management 
Risk management where the measure of risk taken is ensured by enforcing certain regulations and by 
setting up and enforcing various risk limits (limits to quantity, loss etc.). In this statement, the term ‘risk 
management’ is used in this meaning.  
 
Risk management structure 
 
Board of Directors 
 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the risk policy and risk strategy of Hungarian Bankholding Zrt. 
(MBH). The Board approves the Risk Strategy / Risk Policy, the Recovery Plan, the basic regulations 
defining the method of risk management, determines the most important risk and capital limits and the 
principles of risk methodologies. 
 
The Board of Directors evaluates risk management activities and the extent of risks on the basis of regular 
risk reports. If the extent of the assumed risks is not in accordance with the risk strategy, the Board of 
Directors takes measures to mitigate the risks. 
 
The Board of Directors also provides an opinion on individual cases submitted by the member banks in 
the framework of the Group-level opinion procedure specified in the MBH's rules of procedure and lending 
competence. 
 
Supervisory Board 
 
The task and responsibility of the MBH Supervisory Board is to control the risk-taking and risk management 
processes. The Supervisory Board is also responsible for supervising and regularly evaluating the 
operation of MBH's internal lines of defense. 
 
Risk committee structure 
 
The operation of the MBH is supported by several standing committees. Standing committees with risk 
authority: the Risk Committee, the Asset-Liability Committee, the Workout Committee. The committees 
may delegate their powers to the members of the committee, to the various organizational units or 
managers of the MBH, subject to ex-post reporting. 
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Risk Committee (CB) 
 
The Risk Committee exercises its powers at the individual or group level. 
 
Main responsibilities: 

- Preliminary opinion on the risk strategy and risk policies, making proposals to the Board of 
Directors regarding the risk limits specified therein 

- Approval of ICAAP risk capital parameters 
- Monitoring compliance with risk limits, taking measures in case of limit violation 
- Approval of risk methodologies within the Commission's remit 
- Defining the risk reporting system 
- Determining, allocating and re-measuring group-level concentration risk limits 
- Defining the general framework of credit risk and operational risk management, taking operational 

measures to mitigate risk 
- Preliminary opinion on the Recovery Plan of the Group, making a proposal to the Board of 

Directors, approval of the Recovery Plans of member banks 
- Based on the Supervisory Review and Evaluation Process (SREP), it develops action plans, 

appoints a leader responsible for implementation, sets deadlines, and holds ac-countability for 
implementation 

- During the calculation of the capital requirement and the internal capital requirement, the methods, 
parameters, credit ratings, etc. are used, making a proposal to the Board of Directors 

- Preliminary opinion on the disclosure policy, making a proposal to the Board of Directors 
- Giving opinions in cases submitted by the members of the Group within the competence of the 

Commission. 
 
Asset-Liability Committee (EFB) 
 
The Assets and Liabilities Committee exercises its powers at the individual or group level. 
 
Main responsibilities: 

- Primarily responsible for asset and resource management at the individual and group level 
- Develops and monitors appropriate balance sheet risk policies, asset-liability management 

policies, and their application 
- Taking the necessary measures in the field of asset-resource management and initiating the 

necessary measures to the competent decision-makers 
- Approval of the formation principles of settlement prices (transfer prices), determination of internal 

settlement prices 
- Product profitability model, channel and approval of the customer profitability model 
- Approves the product development principles, makes a proposal to the Board of Directors for 

product development purposes, and monitors and re-measures product launches 
- Makes a proposal to the Board of Directors for sales purposes, approves the expectations for 

sales channels 
- Monitoring market and liquidity risks, setting, allocating and controlling limits, taking the necessary 

measures, proposing principles and regulations 
- Establishment and allocation of group-level capital limits to the members of the Group, making 

proposals to the Board of Directors, monitoring compliance with the limits, and taking measures 
in the event of a breach of limits. Proposal for principles and regulations 

- Continuous monitoring of the indicators within the scope of the Commission to be monitored in the 
framework of the Recovery Plan and taking the necessary decisions in case of a lower severity 
alert of the indicators. 
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Workout Committee (WOB) 
 
The Workout Committee exercises its powers on an individual and group level. 
 
Main responsibilities: 

- The Commission, due to its group management function, may prescribe an action plan for the 
members of the Group in matters within its competence 

- It continuously monitors the implementation of the required action plans and reports on the action 
plans to the relevant organizational units 

- Reviewing, proposing, and monitoring compliance and enforcement of group-level NPLs and 
collection strategies / problematic risk management policies 

- NPL portfolio, regular review of problematic case management process 
- Approval of risk methodologies within the Commission's remit 
- Defining a risk reporting system within the Commission's remit 
- Take decisions on matters entrusted to the Commission in the internal instructions / regulations 
- Taking decisions on matters delegated to the Commission by the Management Board 
- Giving opinions in cases submitted by the members of the Group within the competence of the 

Commission 
- Receivables sales and its process supervision and management. 

 
Risk management organization 
 
Within the MBH organization, the Risk Management and Prudential Control Division performs business 
risk management and risk control tasks. 
 
The following organizational units have been established within the Division: 

- Integrated Risk Control 
- ALM Control 
- Prudential Capital Requirement Control 
- Retail Business Risk Management 
- Corporate Business Risk Management 
- Workout Control 
- Risk Harmonization 

 
The Risk Management and Prudential Control area is responsible for the performance, group 
management, harmonization and supervision of effective, comprehensive and independent risk control 
activities covering all significant risks of the Group, as well as business risk ma-nagement and workout 
control activities at the Group level. It is also responsible for overseeing Pillar I and Pillar II (ICAAP, ILAAP, 
SREP) capital adequacy and overseeing the MREL and resolution framework, including the preparation, 
maintenance, operation and control of the Recovery Plan. Among the risk management and prudential 
functions, it manages and supervises harmonization at the Group level, identifies group synergies and 
takes meas-ures to exploit them. 
 
The Risk Management and Prudential Control area operates in a dual reporting structure, reporting directly 
to the Chairman of the Board on prudential control functions, and reporting directly to the Chief Executive 
Officer on Retail and Corporate Business Risk Management and Workout Control functions and areas. 
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Internal control 
 
The elements of the internal control system (in-process, management control, management information 
system, and independent internal audit organization) cover the entire organization and activities of MBH, 
are integrated into daily activities and can be monitored, and provide regular feedback to the appropriate 
management level. 
 
Internal Audit prepares a risk analysis covering the entire organization, including the risk management 
area, in order to compile the annual audit plan. It regularly reports to the Board of Directors and the 
Supervisory Board on the establishment and operation of the group-level internal audit function, the risks 
identified by Internal Audit or external authorities and their management. 
 
Risk measurement and reporting system 
 
The Group develops and applies a comprehensive risk management and measurement framework at the 
individual and group level. 
 
The most important elements of this are: 

- It measures its credit risk exposure using methods in accordance with the law and integration 
regulations. 

- With respect to liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange risk, risk is basically monitored and 
controlled by setting limits that reflect risk appetite and the market environment. 

- MBH collects and analyzes data on operational risk events and losses at the individual and group 
level. 
 

As a result of measuring the risks, MBH determines the amount of economic capital justified by the risk-
taking. The Risk Committee and the Board of Directors review the report on the risk situation of the MBH 
Group on a quarterly basis. 
 
The Group, due to the use of financial instruments, is exposed to the following risks:  
 

 credit risk:  
Credit risk is the potential risk of a business partner defaulting on its payment obligations or failing to fulfil 
them in due time, or the value of receivables decreasing due to a business partner’s deteriorating credit 
rating. Risks from loans or other loan-type commitments provided to associated companies are also 
covered by the Group’s credit risk management system.  
 

 country risk:  
Country risk generally specifies a potential loss that may occur due to economic, political or other events 
in a specific country that are beyond the control of the Group, the creditor or the investor. Should such 
events arise, the obligor will not be able to meet its commitments in a timely manner or will fail to fulfil them 
altogether, or the Group will not be able to exercise its rights against the obligor. The country risk includes 
transfer risk, state risk and collective debtor risk. 
 

 market risk (including foreign exchange and interest rate risks):  
Market price risk includes potential losses incurred due to changes in market prices both in trading and 
banking books. 
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 liquidity risk:  
In the definition of the Group, liquidity is the ability to fulfil payment obligations in a timely manner and the 
ability to finance new businesses at any time without having to accept unexpected liquidity losses in the 
asset column or increased refinancing rates in the liabilities column.  
 

 operational risks:  
Operational risk is the risk of a loss that may be due to inadequate or deficient internal processes, human 
error or the inadequate operating of systems, or external events, and they include legal risks. Operational 
risks do not include business and reputational risks.  
 

 legal risks:  
Legal risk is the risk of a loss that may occur due to a failure to comply with or improperly applying legal 
regulations, delayed response to changes in the legal environment or non-compliance (including non-
compliance that is inevitable or beyond control). 
 

 reputational risk:  
Reputational risk means the goodwill of the Group falling behind expectations, the reputation of the Group 
deteriorating among the most affected groups based on their legitimate interests (in terms of the 
competence, integrity and reliability of the Group). 
 

 strategic risk:  
Strategic risk includes risks resulting from business policy decisions having a negative impact on capital 
and profitability, or those that result from the implementation of deficient or inadequate decisions, or those 
that result from slow adaptation to the changes of the economic environment.  
 

 business risk:  
Business risk includes unexpected changes in the economic environment that exert a negative impact on 
sales or margins and cannot be attributed to risks of other types. It quantifies the difference between actual 
costs and revenues. 
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3.2 Risk factors 
 
3.2.1 Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk means the Group does not possess the necessary amount of cash and cash equivalents to 
pay due and legitimate obligations. 
 
Liquidity risks can fundamentally be divided into two categories, and their subcategories: 

 funding liquidity risk, including: 
o maturity (maturity mismatch) liquidity risk arising from the fact that the cashflows of assets 

and liabilities are not properly matched and maturing liabilities in certain periods exceed 
the amount of receivables due. The nearer the period of the mismatch, the more 
significant the risk 

o withdrawal (massive withdrawal of funds before maturity) liquidity risk - funds are 
withdrawn prior to the contractual expiry 

o structural liquidity risk - the risk of funds being renewed with difficulty and only at higher 
cost 

 market liquidity risk - the risk that a market position cannot be closed at the market price in the 
short term, only at a less favorable price, therefore the position will need to be maintained so that 
the proper market price can be realized, and this may require committing/using liquid assets. 
 

The Group carries out liquidity management on a cash flow basis, and - because of the fulfilment of the 
mandatory central bank provisioning - in monthly periods. Liquidity management aims at maintaining 
continuous liquidity while revenue-generating ability remains at the maximum level. In the course of doing 
so, the Group maintains non-interest earning assets (cash) at the required lowest level and uses the 
opportunities offered by maturity transformation. Taking into consideration the interest rates in the market, 
the Group utilizes non-maturing assets or short-term assets in maturing assets or in assets whose maturity 
is longer than that of the liabilities. 
 
The Group may only apply the maturity transformation tool to the extent where it is able to maintain its 
liquidity at all times, i.e. it is in possession of sufficient liquid assets (primarily government securities) and 
fundraising possibilities (primarily from the interbank market) with the help of which it is able to immediately 
fulfil its lawful and due payment obligations. The Group accepts to be exposed to liquidity risk as the 
maturity structure of its outplaced assets is not entirely consistent with the contractual maturity of its 
liabilities, and a significant part of these assets cannot be liquidated (sold) in the short term. The Group 
suffers liquidity risk because of the fact that clients may withdraw funds prior to the expiry of the contracts, 
or not renew them on expiry. The Group curtails liquidity risks with limits and measures it daily, monthly 
and quarterly. 
 
Liquidity risks are curtailed by the following Group-level limits: 

 Liquidity coverage ratio (LCR) 
 Net stable funding ratio (NSFR) 
 Mortgage funding adequacy ratio (MFAR) 
 Foreign Exchange Funding Adequacy Ratio (FFAR) 
 Foreign exchange balance indicator (FEBI) 
 Interbank Funding Ratio (IFR) 
 30-day changes in client money deposits 
 Liquidity stress test 
 Limits specified in the early warning system 

 
The decisions made by the management of the Group are, however, also based on the liquidity gap 
between contractual inward and outward flows (net position), and therefore both financial assets and 
financial liabilities are rated in liquidity categories. 
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The following table shows the distribution of liabilities: 
  

31.12.2020 
Carrying 
amount 

Gross 
nominal 
inflow/ 

(outflow) 

Up to 1 
month 

1 month 
to 3 

months 

3 months 
to 1 year 

1 year to 5 
years 

5 years 
and over 

Deposits 5,406,377 5,418,388 4,766,049 371,803 275,673 4,517 346 

Borrowed funds and other liabilities 1,971,742 1,967,240 191,799 15,734 93,759 1,315,990 349,958 

Own issued debt securities 271,134 306,433 1,486 285 27,674 153,844 123,144 

Subordinated debt 44,724 44,723 1,200 - - 43,523 - 

Total liabilities 7,693,977 7,736,784 4,960,534 387,822 397,106 1,517,874 473,448 

Off BS liabilities 1,087,478 - - - - - - 
 
 

31.12.2019 
Carrying 
amount 

Gross 
nominal 
inflow/ 

(outflow) 

Up to 1 
month 

1 month 
to 3 

months 

3 months 
to 1 year 

1 year to 5 
years 

5 years 
and over 

Deposits 1,799,981 1,853,903 1,579,480 126,537 48,091 93,083 6,712 

Borrowed funds and other liabilities 209,373 128,193 - - 9,925 45,600 72,668 

Own issued debt securities 251,961 272,724 6,324 257 33,845 203,983 28,315 

Subordinated debt - - - - - - - 

Total liabilities 2,261,315 2,254,820 1,585,804 126,794 91,861 342,666 107,695 

Off BS liabilities 326,139 - - - - - - 
 
 
The following table shows the distribution of financial assets: 
 
 

31.12.2020 
Carrying 
amount 

Gross 
nominal 
inflow/ 

(outflow) 

Up to 1 
month 

1 month 
to 3 

months 

3 months 
to 1 year 

1 year to 5 
years 

5 years 
and over 

Cash and cash equivalents 773,941 773,963 773,886 - 77 - - 

Loans and advances 45,115 69,910 404 705 2,377 12,142 54,282 

Securities 96,590 72,822 3,219 52 1,196 41,968 26,387 

Financial assets measured at 
FVTPL 

141,705 142,732 3,623 757 3,573 54,110 80,669 

Securities 1,064,428 1,073,731 1,955 1,312 214,583 432,463 423,418 

Financial assets measured at 
FVTOCI 

1,064,428 1,073,731 1,955 1,312 214,583 432,463 423,418 

Loans and advances 4,518,060 5,030,594 952,320 184,014 727,873 1,691,825 1,474,562 

Securities 1,533,846 1,596,946 1,542 5 89,064 787,719 718,616 

Financial assets measured at AC 6,051,906 6,627,540 953,862 184,019 816,937 2,479,544 2,193,178 

Total assets 8,031,980 8,617,966 1,733,326 186,088 1,035,170 2,966,117 2,697,265 
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31.12.2019 
Carrying 
amount 

Gross 
nominal 
inflow/ 

(outflow) 

Up to 1 
month 

1 month 
to 3 

months 

3 months 
to 1 year 

1 year to 5 
years 

5 years 
and over 

Cash and cash equivalents 101,712 101,712 101,712 - - - - 

Loans and advances 2,704 3,941 73 38 515 2,292 1,022 

Securities 58,631 39,206 4,896 8,044 10,141 13,682 2,443 

Financial assets measured at 
FVTPL 

61,335 43,147 4,969 8,082 10,656 15,974 3,465 

Securities 394,973 399,608 62 195 47,454 256,811 95,087 

Financial assets measured at 
FVTOCI 

394,973 399,608 62 195 47,454 256,811 95,087 

Loans and advances 1,718,597 1,812,453 175,235 83,683 219,799 634,740 698,996 

Securities 42,029 50,204 - - 1,012 19,641 29,551 

Financial assets measured at AC 1,760,626 1,862,657 175,235 83,683 220,811 654,381 728,547 

Total assets 2,318,646 2,407,124 281,978 91,960 278,921 927,166 827,099 

 
 
During the contractual maturity gap analysis - to adequately determine liquidity risk - the fundamental 
aspect that needs to be considered is that the overwhelming portion of liabilities recorded in the liabilities 
column need to be regarded as continually renewing liabilities. 
 
The Group is able to maintain its liquidity and fulfil its due payment obligations. 
 
The Group analyzes the consequences of any potential severe liquidity stress. The followings are viewed 
by the Group as liquidity stress positions: 

 sudden and large-scale withdrawal of clients’ deposits, and this needs to be hedged by selling or 
repurchasing liquid assets. 

 
The stress impact assumed by the Group consists of two parts: 

 in case of debt securities: the interest expense of securities-backed loans received from NBH; 
 in case of shares: sales haircut. 

 
A stress position may arise due to a fault attributable to the Group (reputational risk) or due to a fault 
beyond its control (general market influence). 
 
The Group prepares for liquidity stress positions by: 

 creating liquidity reserves; 
 entering long-term cross-currency interest rates swaps (CCIRS) for currency refinancing. 

 
The Group has in place a contingency plan to manage any critical situations arising from liquidity 
disturbances/crises, which the affected business lines and functions comply with so that they can take 
prudent and optimal measures in due time under the given circumstances. 
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3.2.2 Market risks  
 
Market risk means the risk that the fair value (net) of the Group’s financial instruments may change due to 
changing market prices (interest rates, share prices, foreign exchange), which, as a result, may lead to 
the profit and the capital of the Group decreasing or being lost entirely. 
 
The Group distinguishes its balance sheet items and off-balance sheet items in terms of the interest rate 
risk and stock risk based on whether it belongs in the trading book or non-trading book. Such distinction 
in the case of currency risk does not exist. 
The trading book of the Group records both interest rate risk and stock risk, while the non-trading book 
contains only interest rate risk. 
 
The Group applies a complex statistical method to measure market risks and to limit the market risks of 
the trading book: the value at risk (VaR) method. VaR is the estimated amount of loss that may be 
generated in a corresponding portfolio or position due to market risks in a specified term, during the period 
of holding, and at a given reliability and confidence level. The VaR calculated at the 99% confidence level 
applied by the Group shows that losses greater than VaR may be generated on every one hundredth day 
on average, but it does not show its amount. 
 
There are a number of types of VaR. The Group applies the Parametric VaR method to quantify daily 
market risks. Parametric VaR is value-at-risk calculation based on JP Morgan’s RiskMetrics method. 
RiskMetrics estimates are based on historical exchange rate data. We assume that yields calculated on 
the basis of historical exchange rates follow a normal distribution. The RiskMetrics method applies the 
exponential weighted moving average model (EWMA) to estimate multivariate normal distribution 
variances and covariances (volatilities and correlations). 
 
The essence of using exponential weighted moving average applied to historical data lies in the fact that 
the last observations carry the greatest weight in estimating volatility.  
 
This method has two very important advantages over the simple moving average method (SMA): 

 Volatility reacts to market shock more swiftly and therefore newer data carry greater weight than 
data from the distant past. 

 After a shock (e.g. in the case of a high increase in yield), volatility changes exponentially 
according to the decline in the weight of the shock observation. 

 
The Group applies the following parameters during the VaR calculation: 

 VaR method applied: Parametric VaR, 
 decay factor: 94%, 
 confidence level: 99%, 
 holding period: 10 days, 
 sample size: 100 days. 

 
The correctness of the VaR applied is examined using the backtesting method. According to the results of 
backtesting, the adequacy of the parameters is continuously inspected and, when necessary, an 
adjustment proposal is prepared for the Board of Directors. 
Limits are determined for the values at risk (VaR) of the risk factors of the trading book separately and 
collectively, too. The limit for the total value at risk (total VaR) is determined in consideration of the 
diversification effect. The diversification effect also shows how much less risk a product (and its position) 
carries than when standing on its own. 
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VaR position of the trading portfolio of the Group at 31 December 2020 and during the period 
 

31 December 2020 
Capital adequacy under the 

Pillar 1 from trade book 
items 

Foreign exchange risk - 
Interest rate risk 876 
Stock exchange share risk 14 
Full (diversified) 890 

 
3.2.3 Interest rate risk  
 
Interest rate risk means the risk of having the profit or the capital of the Group decreasing or being totally 
lost due to changes in the levels and proportions of the interest rates in the market.  
 
Interest rate risk registered in the trading book 
 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in the trading book due to the sale and purchase of interest-
bearing securities and various derivative transactions. 
 
The Group curtails its interest rate risks recorded in the trading book with limits, which it measures on a 
daily basis. 
 
The interest rate risk that may be accepted in the trading book is limited by the following limits: 

 quantity limits for interest-bearing securities registered in the trading book, 
 stop-loss limits for interest-bearing securities registered in the trading book, 
 sensitivity limits established for interest rate risks registered in the trading book, determined by 

currency, 
 VaR limits of interest rate positions in the trading book, 
 rate reasonability limit of transactions, 
 holding-period limits for positions held for trading, bearing an interest rate risk. 

 
At the end of the reporting period, the interest rate structure of the interest-bearing financial instruments 
of the Group was the following: 
 

Interest rate structure of financial 
instruments* (in HUF million) 

31.12.2020 

HUF CHF EUR USD  
other 

currencies 
Total 

Fixed rate assets 3,964,712 71 329,497 57,166 18,141 4,369,587 

Variable rate assets 2,955,190 3,010 420,156 15,833 3,864 3,398,053 

Total assets 6,919,902 3,081 749,653 72,999 22,005 7,767,640 

Fixed rate liabilities (5,090,252) (3,307) (528,176) (48,050) (12,161) (5,681,946) 

Variable rate liabilities (1,514,494) (4,084) (344,489) (71,971) (6,529) (1,941,567) 

Total liabilities (6,604,746) (7,391) (872,665) (120,020) (18,690) (7,623,512) 

* this report doesn't contain the derivatives       
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Interest rate structure of financial 
instruments* (in HUF million) 

31.12.2019 

HUF CHF EUR USD  
other 

currencies 
Total 

Fixed rate assets 743,285 255 53,733 - - 797,273 

Variable rate assets 1,394,709 821 71,932 - - 1,467,462 

Total assets 2,137,994 1,076 125,665 - - 2,264,735 

Fixed rate liabilities (1,807,468) (1,429) (86,226) (6,994) (477) (1,902,594) 

Variable rate liabilities (217,854) (2) (38,884) (841) (2) (257,583) 

Total liabilities (2,025,322) (1,431) (125,110) (7,835) (479) (2,160,177) 

* this report doesn't contain the derivatives       

 
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk outside the trading book because of collecting deposits, 
providing loans, the sale and purchase of interest-bearing securities and various derivative transactions. 
 
The Group limits interest rate risks undertaken outside the trading book with the following limit: 
 

 capital limit: The ICAAP (pillar 2) capital requirement of banking book interest rate risk (capital 
requirement) cannot exceed 5% of the consolidated solvency margin. For the calculation of the 
capital requirement - in accordance with the cental bank regulations - two indicators are applied: 
NII (net interest income) and EVE (economic value of equity); 

 sensitivity limits related to various bond portfolios. 
 
Sensitivity tests 
 
NII quantifies the change in short-term (annual) interest income while EVE quantifies the economic value 
of equity based on net present value for different types of shocks of the yield curve (parallel shift, change 
in steepness, short-term shocks). 
 

31.12.2020 Effect on equity Effect on P/L 

HUF     

200 bp increase (23,702) 11,641 

200 bp decrease 40,092 (13,562) 

EUR 
  

200 bp increase 6,343 (27) 

200 bp decrease (1,250) 872 

USD 
  

200 bp increase (275) (130) 

200 bp decrease 13 (534) 

Other currencies 
  

200 bp increase 161 36 

200 bp decrease (61) (64) 
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3.2.4 Share price risk  
 
Share price risk means the risk of having the profit or the capital of the Group decreasing or being totally 
lost due to changes in the levels and proportions of the stock prices in the market.  
 
We distinguish individual and general stock price risks. “Individual foreign exchange risk” arises when the 
value of a single share position or a complex position or a derivative transaction in the portfolio of the 
Group decreases due to the risks associated with the special characteristics of an underlying share of a 
transaction compared to cost, which may generate a loss.  
 
“General price risk” arises when the value of a single share position or a complex position or a derivative 
transaction in the portfolio of the Group decreases due to general market changes compared to cost, 
independently of the risks associated with the special characteristics of an underlying share of a 
transaction. 
 
Stock risk registered in the trading book 
 
If the transactions posing a stock risk, the Group predominantly deals in hedging transactions during which 
it seeks to realize interest rate margins in the futures stock transactions so that the stock risk is completely 
covered. 
 
In addition to the hedging-type stock transactions, the Group also takes speculative stock positions by 
dealing in shares, stock index and share futures transactions. 
 
The Group curtails its stock risks registered in the trading book with limits, which it measures on a daily 
basis. 
 
The stock risks that may be accepted in the trading book are limited by the following limits: 

 VaR limit; 
 quantitative and stop-loss limits; 
 individual stock limit; 
 issuer’s limit. 

 
3.2.5 Currency exchange risk  
 
Currency risk means the risk of having the profit or the capital of the Group decreasing or being totally lost 
due to changes in the levels and proportions of the currency exchanges.  
The Group is exposed to currency risks because of collecting deposits denominated in different currencies, 
providing loans, the sale and purchase of securities and various derivative transactions. 
The Group manages currency risks uniformly at the level of the individaul Banks. Curtails currency risks 
with limits, on a daily basis. 
 
Currency risks are limited by the following limits: 

 VaR limit; 
 open position limit; 
 stop-loss limits. 
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The financial position of the Group in foreign exchange at the end of the reporting period was the following: 
 

31.12.2020 
In 

functional 
currency 

In foreign currencies 
Total 

EUR USD CHF 
other 

currencies 
Net assets 8 162 894 354 183 47 059 2 389 16 763 8 583 288 

Net liabilities (7 979 901) (483 609) (95 731) (5 914) (12 483) (8 577 638) 
Net derivative and spot 
instruments (short) / long 
position 

(185 262) 130 601 48 624 3 752 (4 222) (6 507) 

Total net currency positions (2 269) 1 175 (48) 227 58 (857) 

       

31.12.2019 
In 

functional 
currency 

In foreign currencies 
Total 

EUR USD CHF 
other 

currencies 
Net assets 2,549,322 4,941 - 1,136 581 2,555,980 

Net liabilities (2,525,625) (29,903) (926) (11) (179) (2,556,644) 
Net derivative and spot 
instruments (short) / long 
position 

(28,153) 24,151 2,980 (259) (914) (2,195) 

Total net currency positions (4,456) (811) 2,054 866 (512) (2,859) 

 
The Group, in order to minimize the above risk, carries out currency swaps, FX futures, FX forward and 
FX option transactions.  
 
3.2.6 Credit risk 
 
Credit risk fundamentally refers to the financial risk resulting from the non-performance of the 
client/partner, i.e. the risk that the debtor will not be able to repay the shole amount at the due date.  
In a broader sense, every risk resulting from non-performance qualifies as credit risk, including risk 
resulting from the non-performance of sale-purchase agreements (performance risk, open cover risk) and 
risks resulting from the future performance of sale-purchase agreements (replacement cost risk). In this 
sense, credit risk emerges when the Group provides consignment and depositary services, too.  
 
The Group limits the rate of credit risk it undertakes by determining the risk exposure limit towards 
individual debtors and branches. The Group has in place a risk management strategy/policy to manage 
risks, its internal decision preparatory, decision-making and collateral evaluation system comply with this 
policy. The Group makes its credit decisions based on a well-defined decision-making and decision-
preparatory system using the four-exe principle. If necessary - as is the case for most loans - the Group 
requires a collateral. The evaluation and qualification of collateral is regulated by the Collateral Evaluation 
Policy of the Group. The risk limits of individual divisions are approved by the Board of Directors. Risk 
monitoring is carried out on a continuous basis, risks are evaluated during annual and quarterly 
supervision, the Group maintains a quarterly monitoring system. 
 
The management constantly monitors credit risks taken. Reports are prepared on the changes of risks on 
a regular basis for the governing bodies and decision-making forums of the Group. In every session, the 
Board of Directors is updated on the risks the Group is exposed to in relation to jumbo-loans, and quarterly 
on the changes of the credit portfolio. A detailed report on the changes of impairment and provisioning 
related to credit risks is presented quarterly to the Loan Committee, and, also quarterly, a report is 
prepared about changes and the utilization of limits related to different divisions and types of transaction. 
The management receives weekly information on receivables past their due date, and daily on the changes 
to major risks. 
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Exposure to other market risks - non-trading portfolios  
 
The Group is exposed to currency risk through its financial instruments in foreign currencies. Managing 
currency risk aims at mitigating the adverse impacts originating from potential changes of the market value 
of financial instruments in foreign currencies due to exchange rate changes.  
 
Collateral 
 
To ensure prudent operation, the Group decides on the necessary rate of risk mitigation and the tools 
applied for credit risk mitigation by taking into consideration the transaction and the rating of the client. In 
the meantime, and prior to each risk-related decision, the Group ensures that the necessary securities and 
collateral exist and verifies their fair value and enforceability. 
 
The Group specifies in a separate policy the collateral it finds acceptable, the classification thereof, the 
acceptance criteria of the collateral, it lays down the rules for evaluating the collateral and for determining 
the acceptable loan-to-value figure, and for the monitoring of the collateral. 
 
Prior credit risk protection accepted by the Group includes assets that are liquid and value-preserving.  
Therefore, accepted financial collateral are especially: 

 cash or deposit placed with the Group as collateral or deposit 
 debt securities issued by central governments, central banks 
 property 

 
When accepting mortgage collateral, the Group engages third party experts to determine market value. 
The Group, as credit risk collateral not provided in advance, recognizes a credit risk measurement process 
whose provider is reliable and in the case of which the agreement on the credit risk collateral is valid and 
enforceable before a competent authority, and which fulfils the conditions stipulated in Hungarian 
legislation and in the internal policies of the Group.  
 
Therefore, the Group predominantly accepts guarantees and on-demand credit default guarantees for 
credit risk collateral not provided in advance which are provided by: 

 central governments or central banks; 
 public sector institutions; 
 credit institutions or investment firms. 
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In performing its activities, the Group engages the services of Agrár-Vállalkozási Hitelgarancia Alapítvány 
and Garantiqa Hitelgarancia Zrt. providing on-demand credit default guarantees in addition to the state-
backed counter guarantee, and the Group entered into a cooperation agreement with the two 
organizations.   

 

Nominal value of collateral received 

31.12.2020 

Lending 
commitments 

received 

Financial 
guarantees 

received 

Other 
commitments 

received 

Central banks 12,978 230 - 

Public finances - 9,674 - 

Banks 25,849 92,957 - 

Other financial corporations - 116,205 - 

Non-financial corporations - 1,778,593 - 

Households - 621,875 - 

Nominal value of collateral received 38,827 2,619,534 - 
        

Nominal value of collateral received 

31.12.2019 

Lending 
commitments 

received 

Financial 
guarantees 

received 

Other 
commitments 

received 

Central banks - - - 

Public finances - 8,814 - 
Banks - 91,704 - 

Other financial corporations - 1,188 - 

Non-financial corporations - 75,031 - 
Households - 82,724 - 

Nominal value of collateral received - 259,461 - 
 
The Group received the following assets by taking possession of the collateral provided to it as security 
or by exercising other credit quality improvement possibilities: 
 

  2020 
Residential real estate 1,349 

Commercial real estate 160 

Movable property 2 
Equity and debt securities - 

Others 545 
Total assets acquired in exchange for 
loans 

2,056 
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The following table shows a breakdown of performing and non-performing financial assets by arrears as at 31 December 2020: 
 

  

Performing Non-performing 

Performing 
0-30 days 

delay 

31-90 
days 
delay 

Non-
performing 

Not late 
or not 
more 

than 90 
days late 

91-180 
days 
delay 

181-365 
days 
delay 

1-5 years 
delay 

over 5 
years 
delay 

Collateral 
received to 

hedge 
default 

exposures 

Debt securities 1,533,846 1,533,846 - - - - - - - - 

Loans and advances 4,442,509 4,431,228 11,281 75,552 34,399 6,306 5,333 9,398 20,116 45,150 

Financial instruments measured at AC 5,976,355 5,965,074 11,281 75,552 34,399 6,306 5,333 9,398 20,116 45,150 

Debt securities 1,054,615 1,054,615 - - - - - - - - 

Loans and advances - - - - - - - - - - 

Debt instruments at fair value through 
other comprehensive income or equity 
subject to impairment 

1,054,615 1,054,615 - - - - - - - - 

Debt securities 35 35 - - - - - - - - 

Loans and advances 44,230 44,170 60 885 359 210 50 112 154 883 

Non-impaired debt instruments measured 
at FVTPL or equity under the strict 
LOCOM method 

44,265 44,205 60 885 359 210 50 112 154 883 

Debt instruments other than debt 
instruments held for trading or for trading 
purposes 

7,075,235 7,063,894 11,341 76,437 34,758 6,516 5,383 9,510 20,270 46,033 

Provided lending commitments 902 175 - - 3 693 - - - - - 878 

Provided financial guarantees 133 744 - - 992 - - - - - 35 

Other provided commitments 122 991 - - 38 - - - - - 20 

Off BS exposures 1 158 910 - - 4 723 - - - - - 933 
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Definition of default 
 
The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management 
purposes as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following criteria 
are generally not recoverable: 

- when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or 
- information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is 

unlikely to pay its creditors (i.e the debtor has 90 or more days past due related to the financial 
instrument). 

  
The Group, in accordance with the provisions of its risk management policy, continuously monitors the 
changes in the quality of its credit portfolio. The business fields and the management are informed on a 
weekly basis on past due receivables and the registered risk-mitigating assets underlying these 
receivables. The risk classification of loans is carried out by the Group quarterly, in the framework of risk 
monitoring. Decisions related to individual impairment losses of exposures are made during the monitoring.  
 
Impairment accounted for on individually and collectively assessed loans 
 
On the balance sheet date and during the quarterly monitoring, an assessment is made for each 
individually assessed loan whether it is justified to account for impairment losses. If it is justified, the 
estimated recoverable amount of a particular loan and the impairment is recognized in the statement of 
profit or loss on the basis of the estimated cash flows discounted with the original interest rate.  
 
In addition to individual impairment accounted for problematic loans and advances, the Group accounts 
for portfolio-based impairment for the impairment that emerged in the amount of loans and advances but 
which is not determined individually. Loss allowance on collectively assessed loans is measured in 
accordance with IFRS 9. Calculation of loss allowance on collectively assessed loans is performed on a 
regular monthly basis, the applied risk parameters are determined on the basis of statistical models 
developed for homogeneous groups and transaction groups. The models are validated at least once a 
year and revised if necessary.  
 
For Stage 1 loans, the expected credit loss is determined on the basis of the 12-month expected credit 
loss. For Stage 2 and Stage 3 loans, the expected credit loss is determined by lifetime expected credit 
loss. 
 
Clients involved in payment relief schemes 
 
Due to the first repayment moratorium determined in Act LVIII of 2020 on the transitional rules related to 
the termination of the state of danger and on the state of epidemiological preparedness, as of 19 March 
2020 and in the case of every residential and corporate loan agreement, the fulfilment of every capital, 
interest rate, fee payment obligation was suspended, instalments do not need to be paid until 31 December 
2020.  
 
The following legislation, Act CVII of 2020 on the transitional measures to stabilize the situation of certain 
priority social groups and enterprises in financial difficulties and the related Government Decree no. 
637/2020 (XII.22.) (second repayment moratorium), entered into force on 01.01.2021, according to which 
the loan repayment moratorium could be used until 30 June 2021. The repayment moratorium is without 
prejudice to debtor’s right to perform in accordance with the original contract terms. Unpaid interest and 
any charges accumulated during the repayment moratorium shall be paid in even instalments annually 
during the remaining, extended loan term following the expiration of the repayment moratorium together 
with the repayment instalments due. The monthly loan instalments may not be increased because of 
unpaid interest and capital, except the interest/premium changes specified the agreement.  
 
The loan term will be extended in accordance with this. The client may at any time decide during the 
repayment moratorium to accept or not accept the payment relief offered by the repayment moratorium.  
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Losses resulting from the amendment were calculated based on expected repayment schedules estimated 
in accordance with this legislation. The Group modified the impairment methodology after the 
commencement of the state of emergency in line with the laws and recommendations.  
 
Credit risk monitoring is a defining element in the methodology to measure significant credit risk increase 
that have occurred since its initial appearance. During the pandemic, the Group has placed even greater 
emphasis on this activity. It has applied a more stringent procedure in individual monitoring processes and 
new methodology was introduced to identify companies in a deteriorating risk status.  
 
In addition to this, the Group recalculated the IFRS parameters applied earlier, taking into consideration 
the expected macroeconomic impacts. By doing so, it ensured that adequate loss limits were determined 
in different credit risk categories. 
 

Financial assets modified during the period 31 December 2020 

Gross carrying amount before modification 1,383,187 

Loss allowance before modification (66,225) 

Net amortized cost before modification 1,316,962  

Net modification (loss)* (12,489) 

Impairment gain or loss 173 

Net amortized cost after modification 1,304,646 
* The line includes the sum of the three banking groups, only the MTB Group’s modification loss is shown in 
the Profit or Loss 

 
Characteristics affected by payment relief schemes: 
 

31 December 2020 Number of loans Outstanding balance % of portfolio 

Total Retail 342,598 620,474 40.43% 

Total Wholesale 37,754 683,999 32.29% 

Total 380,352 1,304,473 32.48% 

 
Carrying value of loans of clients involved in payment relief schemes: 
 
Gross carrying amount Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

Total Retail 536,720 77,208 28,507 4,841 

Total Wholesale 525,945 164,492 32,985 - 

Total 1,062,665 241,700 61,493 4,841 

 
Impairment Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

Total Retail 7,214 7,352 10,645 1,592 

Total Wholesale 9,227 14,312 15,885 - 

Total 16,440 21,664 26,529 1,592 

 
In the tables above, the loans affected by the payment relief scheme contain the actual recipients (except 
overdraft facilities that are not presented). The carrying value means the IFRS exposure as at 31 
December 2020. 
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3.3 Concentration of risks  
 
The Group distinguishes the following subcategories of concentration risk: 

 regulatory concentration towards the client/client group; 
 other, non-regulatory concentration towards the client/client group; 
 portfolio-level concentration of clients; 
 investment concentration; 
 sectoral concentration; 
 product concentration. 

 
The Group measures geographical concentration through the concentration of exposures by country. 
 
The Group manages the concentration of credit risk mitigating assets, including the concentration of the 
issuer of credit risk mitigating assets, by defining and setting up a “collateral limit”. The collateral limit is 
included in the limit group outside of regulatory control. 
 
In addition to the above, the Group distinguishes between market and liquidity concentration risks, which 
are detailed at market risks and liquidity risks. 
 
Regulatory concentration towards a client/client group and other, non-regulatory concentration towards a 
client/client group 
 
The Group curtails the concentration towards a client/client group in terms of exposures under regulatory 
limitation and exposures not under regulatory limitation through the use of limits. 
 
The total amount of the regulatory concentration exposure towards a client or a client group, taking into 
consideration the effects of credit risk mitigation, cannot exceed 

 25% of the solvency margin of the credit institution, or 
 if the client is a credit institution, investment firm, or if the client group includes one or more credit 

institutions, investment firms, 100% of the solvency margin of the credit institution, with the proviso 
that the sum of exposure value towards the member of the client group that is not a credit institution 
or an investment firm - taking into consideration the effect of the credit risk mitigation - cannot 
exceed 25% of the solvency margin of the credit institution. 

 
The Group, to collectively curtail the exposures falling under regulatory limitation and the exposures not 
falling under regulatory limitation, applies a “ultimate risk limit”. 
 
Portfolio-level concentration of clients 
 
The Group, to calculate the internal capital requirement of concentration risk, continuously monitors the 
portfolio-level concentration of the clients. The following methods are applied: 

 monitoring, limiting the aggregate sum of large exposures towards the 20 largest non-credit 
institutions and non-investment firm clients/client groups measured according to the legislation 
and taking them into consideration in stress tests, the amount of limit is 400% of the solvency 
margin at the time;  

 Calculating the Hirschmann-Herfindahl index (HHI) for the exposures towards companies and 
credit institutions outside the trading book and determining the internal capital requirement of the 
concentration risk by adjusting the measured index with the rate of HHI presumed as average. 
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Investment concentration 
 
The Group applies investment concentration to the investment limitations regulated in Hpt. [Credit 
Institutions Act], the legal limitations for the affected investments are the following: 

 no investment classified as qualified influence - calculated at carrying amount - can exceed 15% 
of the solvency margin; 

 the sum of qualified influence in companies measured at the total net value cannot exceed 60% 
of the solvency margin; 

 the direct and indirect share of the credit institution - measured at net value - cannot exceed 51% 
of the share capital of the enterprise.  

 
It is a special regulation in Hungarian law that total investment measured at net value cannot exceed 100% 
of the solvency margin. With the exception of the items deducted from the solvency margin, subject to the 
limitation are 

 investments in tangible assets,  
 with the exception of government securities and debt securities, any other securities, except a 

share in GARANTIQA Hitelgarancia Zrt., 
 investments realized in the course of loss-mitigating activities if it has been in the possession of 

the credit institution for a term exceeding 3 years. 
 
Sectoral concentration 
 
Calculation of the sectoral concentration applies to items outside the trading book (banking book), with the 
exception of the composite bond portfolio. The sectoral limit is determined based on the principle that the 
Group cannot suffer a loss exceeding 25% of its solvency margin if solvency problems emerge in any 
sector, assuming that 10% of the existing net exposure to concentration will not be recovered due to the 
problems of the sector. Based on the above-mentioned considerations, the sectoral limit cannot be higher 
in any of the sectors than 250% of the solvency margin. 
 
Product concentration 
 
In order to avoid that a product/product family leads to excessive exposure, the Group applies product 
limits. The necessity to establish product limits is decided while a product is being developed or during the 
launch of a new product, or it may become necessary to set up or remove limits while the product is on 
sale.  
 
Country concentration 
 
The Group manages country risk through limits. The maximum value of a country limit is determined in a 
manner that no additional capital requirement is generated when adhered to. For country risks, during the 
internal capital adequacy assessment, an internal capital requirement is to be determined for exposure to 
countries having a rating that corresponds to or is lower than a “BBB+” rating by the S&P credit rating 
agency, and to the enterprises, institutions and persons within that country.  
 
The largest exposure in the consolidated statement of the Group in both years is towards Germany. 
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3.4 Encumbered assets  
 
According to implementation regulation (EU) 680/2014, the following encumbered assets existed at the 
end of the reporting period: 
 

Carrying amount of encumbered assets 2020 

Loans on demand 113 

Equity instruments 19,050 

Debt securities 1,440,471 

   of which: Hedged bonds 4,019 

   of which: Issued by central government 1,329,911 

   of which: Issued by a financial company 41,517 

   of which: Issued by a non-financial company 69,043 

Loans and advances other than loans on demand 872,262 

   of which: Mortgages 242,098 

   of which: Other loans and advances 630,164 

Total assets 2,331,896 
 
 
3.5 Capital management  
 
The supervising goals of Basel III are aimed at enhancing the security and stability of the financial system, 
maintaining at least the current comprehensive capital level in the system, providing equal opportunities 
and a more widespread approach in the management of risks, furthermore, a more emphasized monitoring 
of internationally active banks. Basel III is based on three pillars: minimum capital requirement, supervisory 
review process and market discipline. CRR (Capital Requirements Regulation) is directly effective in 
Hungary. 
 
Basel III offers three approaches with different levels of sophistication to calculating the capital requirement 
for credit risk in pillar 1. Basel III prescribes a capital requirement for operational risk, again with three 
levels of sophistication. The capital requirement under the Base Indicator Approach is a simple percentage 
of the gross revenues, while under the Standardized Approach it is one of three different percentages of 
gross revenues allocated to each of eight specific business lines. Finally, the Advanced Measurement 
Approach uses the bank’s own statistical analysis and operational risk models to determine capital 
requirements. 
 
Pillar 2 of Basel III (supervisory review and evaluation process) involves both the Group and the 
supervisory-regulatory bodies to survey whether the Group needs to maintain additional capital and in 
what amount against the risks not covered by pillar 1. 
 
Pillar 3 of Basel III refers to the disciplinary power of the market which aims to increase transparency by 
obligating companies to disclose certain factual, predetermined portions of their risks under Basel III, as 
well as their risk and capital management. 
 
In its resolution no. H-EN-I-1237/2013, dated 28 October 2013, the Financial Stability Council of the 
National Bank of Hungary (FSC) approved the unified system of the Integration Organization of 
Cooperative Credit Institutions (IOCCI) that ensures that the institution protection risks are monitored and 
evaluated. With regard to this, the FSC authorized the members of IOCCI under consolidated supervision 
to apply a risk weight of zero percent in relation to their exposures - not generating commitments that can 
be taken into consideration when calculating the solvency margin - towards each other as of 12 October 
2013. 
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The solvency margin of the Group, in accordance with the Hungarian laws, must exceed 8% of the risk-
weighted balance sheet total, the Group is in observance of this rule at all times. The Group discloses its 
capital adequacy situation to the Assets and Liabilities Committee, and quarterly, in the form of a regular 
report, to the NBH and the Supervisory Board. In 2020, the Group complied with prudential regulations at 
all times, no limits were breached. 
 
The following table shows the capital adequacy of the Group under pillar 1: 
 

Capital adequacy under the Pillar 1 31.12.2020 

Capital requirement of the credit risk 235,909 

Partner risk 1,822 

Capital requirement of the market risk 890 

Capital requirement of the operational risk 38,458 

Capital requirement of the credit valuation adjustment 759 

Total capital requirement 277,838 
Regulatory capital to cover risks 620,724 
Capital adequacy ratio (%) 17.87% 

 

*Solvency margin includes IOCCI’s reserves also, because the above table shows the capital adequacy 
of the entire scope of prudential consolidation. 
 
The Group calculated the solvency margin according to the final regulations of CRR, therefore it contains 
no transitional adjustments.  
 
The following table shows the breakdown of the solvency margin of the Group: 
 

 Regulatory capital 
2020 

Basel III IFRS 

Share capital and share premium 548,000 
Reserves              186,381  
Deferred tax              (12,628) 
Intangible assets            (148,899) 
AVA -  additional valuation adjustments                (1,195) 
Regulatory adjustments from CET1                19,931  

Additional Tier 1 -  
    
Tier 1: Net core capital            591,590  

Subordinated debt                29,134  

Tier 2: Supplementary capital              29,134  
    
Regulatory capital            620,724  

Risk-weighted assets (RWA)           2,981,119  

Large loan limit                        -  

Operational risk (OR)              480,728  

Market risk positions (MR)                11,126  

Total risk weighted assets         3,472,973  

    

Capital adequacy ratio 17.87% 
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4. NOTES 
 
The consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2020 incorporate the assets and liabilities of its 
subsidiaries, however the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income reflects the profit 
and loss and other comprehensive income of MBH and the MTB Group, since the acquisition took place 
at the end of the reporting period. Comparing data from previous financial year in these consolidated 
financial statements showing the financial data of MTB Group. 
 
4.1 Net interest income 
 

Interest and similar to interest income 2020 2019 
Interest income on trading derivatives 1,087 1,984 
Interest income on debt securities held for trading 538 1,744 
Interest income on loans and advances measured against 
profit or loss 

58 52 

Interest income on debt instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

4,665 8,742 

Interest income on debt securities measured at AC 5,326 920 
Interest income on loans and advances measured at AC 69,497 62,185 

Interest income from derivative transactions (Hedge 
accounting, interest rate risk) 

1,238 1,597 

Interest income on deposits 5 151 
Interest income on other assets 49 221 
Interest income on other financial liabilities 14 132 

Total interest and similar to interest income 82,477 77,728 
      

Interest expense 2020 2019 
Interest expense on debt securities measured at FVTPL 1,352 2,604 
Interest expense on debt securities measured at AC 6,267 5,960 
Interest expense on loans and advances measured at AC 2,996 2,383 
Interest expense on deposits measured at AC 2,819 2,563 
Interest expense on other financial liabilities measured at AC 68 60 
Interest expense on derivative transactions (Hedge accounting, 
interest rate risk) 

1,615 1,845 

Interest expense on other liabilities 108 1,007 
Interest expense on other financial assets 27 5 

Total interest expense 15,252 16,427 
      

Net interest income 67,225 61,301 
 
Net interest income increased by HUF 5,924 million from 2019 to 2020, which cased by increase of lending 
activity and stock of securities at group level. 
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4.2 Net income from commissions and fees 
 

Income from commissions and fees 2020 2019 
Fee and commission income from payment services 46,444 54,423 
Fee and commission income from credit service activities 3,286 3,853 
Fee and commission income related to other securities 5,181 5,050 
Fee and commission income from securities issues 3,952 4,485 
Other asset management fee and commission income 2,639 2,385 
Accounting and settlement fee and commission income 235 1,109 
Fee and commission income from securities transfer orders 1,201 532 
Fee and commission income from provided financial guarantees 131 347 
Other custody fee and commission income 119 144 
Other income from commissions and fees 5,141 2,757 
Total income from commissions and fees 68,329 75,085 

 
The following fee and commission income is recorded in accordance with IFRS 15: 
 
Fee receipts related to account management 
 
The Group provides account management services to its retail and business clientele. The main types of 
service are: opening an account, monitoring the balance, arranging transactions within and outside the 
bank on the basis of a customer order/provision, arranging deposit transactions in relation to the account, 
cash flow, closing of accounts. Depending on the regularity of the service, their service fee and fee receipts 
will be charged to customer accounts on a daily, monthly (or more regular basis) or on a case-by-case 
basis.  
 
In the case of continuous services (e.g. monthly fee for account management, monthly fee for sms 
services, etc.), fee receipts are recorded monthly on the last day of the month. These fees are typically 
fixed fees. 
 
In the case of transaction-based services (e.g. remittance orders, direct debits, cash payments, etc.), 
transaction fees are settled at the same time as the transaction or by collecting monthly transaction fees. 
Fees are determined on the basis of the amount of the transaction, in % or in combination with a fixed and 
% combination. 
 
Credit card fee and commission income 
 
Credit card fees are typically fixed fees because card transactions are free of charge. Events related to 
the maintenance of the card (annual card fee), card re-manufacture and replacement. 
 
Fee income related to lending 
 
Non-interest charges related to credit transactions are regular monitoring fees, fees for validation, 
verification, review and administration fees. These fees are recorded when the service is incurred or, in 
the case of a continuous service, monthly, ex post. 
 
Agent fees 
 
The Group provides brokerage services to other banks, insurers, investment service providers, factor 
companies. The fees for these services are charged monthly, depending on the volume and value of the 
customers, transactions, transactions, usually monthly, sold or served on the order. 
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Commission and fee expenses 2020 2019 

Accounting and settlement fee and commission expense 4,294 12,060 
Fee and commission expense from credit service activities 3,306 2,040 
Fee and commission expense for financial guarantees 
received 

59 125 

Expenditure on fees and commissions for payment services 3,596 2,529 
Other custody fee and commission expense 50 11 
Other expense from commissions and fees 6,663 6,173 
Total commission and fee expenses 17,968 22,938 

      
Net income from commissions and fees 50,361 52,147 

 
Net income from fees and commissions decreased by HUF 1,786 million over the previous period.  
 
The following fee and commission expenditures are recorded during the fiscal period: 
 
Fee charges related to account management 
 
The fees paid for ancillary services related to account management services provided to customers are 
typically fees incurred in connection with the payment of account management fees (nostro) to other banks, 
the sending of statements, cash logistics, cash processing, postal cash transfers, postal payments, postal 
payments incurred in order to serve the account management of customers. They are usually monthly and 
regularly in line with continuous account management. 
 
Bank card related charges: 
 
The Group pays transaction, production and distribution fees to the credit card provider in connection with 
the provision of credit card services. The fees for these services are fixed but the amount of these depends 
on the volume and value of card transactions. They are accounted for on a monthly basis. 
 
Lending fees 
 
Fees and commissions incurred in connection with the lending of the Group's clients to other banks and 
refinances are recorded (one-off disbursement fees for refinancing loans, verification fees, etc.). They shall 
be accounted for on a regular basis and may be subject to variable remuneration depending on the 
refinancing facility or transactions, but may also be fixed re-muneration. They shall be accounted for on a 
monthly basis or on a case-by-case basis for one-offs. 
 
Fees paid to other entities in connection with client loans are also incurred if they are not part of the 
effective calculation of interest, e.g. notarial fees, valuation fees, national or other cen-tral database usage 
fees, if they have been re-invoiced to the customer. They are accounted for on a monthly basis on a case-
by-case basis or on a continuous basis. 
 
Agent's fee 
 
The Group also sells its products through agents, so its payments for brokering are typically made on a 
monthly basis, depending on the volumes sold. Typically used broker services include currency exchange 
by currency exchange agents, etc. 
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4.3 Gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities 
 

 Gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities 2020 2019 
Dividend income from financial assets 310 358 
Profit from financial assets and liabilities held for trading 4,424 6,792 

Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss 

1,085 658 

Change in fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss 

290 - 

Gain/(loss) on derecognition of financial assets not at fair value 
through profit or loss 

5,288 7,763 

Gain/(loss) on derecognition of financial liabilities not at fair value 
through profit or loss  

42 9 

Profit/(loss) from hedge accounting (3,545) (2,104) 
Gain/(loss) on financial assets and liabilities total 7,894 13,476 

 
4.4 Other income/(expense), net 
 

Other income/(expense), net 2020 2019 
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) 1,176 3,588 
Gain on derecognition of non-financial assets (686) 1,290 
Other operating income 8,489 6,639 
Other operating expenses (6,815) (4,160) 
Other provisions 4,070 (1,906) 
Non-financial assets (impairment)/reversal of impairment (474) 62 
Other income/(expense), net total 5,760 5,513 

 
4.5 Operating expenses 
 

Operating expenses 2020 2019 

Personnel costs 44,560 57,487 
Wage cost 36,085 43,811 
Other personnel expenses 8,475 13,676 

Other administrative expenses 68,380 70,899 
Taxes, contributions 25,595 27,620 
IT costs 16,720 16,988 
Other membership fees 8,219 5,806 
Advisory fees 5,288 6,611 
Material cost 371 1,964 
Postage and telephone costs 1,643 2,140 
Marketing cost 1,267 2,272 
Repair, maintenance 644 1,086 
Bookkeeping, payroll 288 485 
Modification loss 4,025 - 
Others 4,320 5,927 

Operating expenses total 112,940 128,386 
   

Depreciation  6,375 7,476 
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Costs of banking operations decreased by HUF 16,547 million in 2020. Operating expenses include 
personnel costs and management costs. The most significant portion of management costs consist of 
taxes and contribution-type expenses. The most significant part of administrative costs are taxes and 
contribution-type expenses - transaction tax is the largest tax-related payment during this year - and IT 
costs. For details of the “Modification loss” line, please see Note 3.2.6. 
 
4.6 Impairment and provision for credit risks 
 

Impairment and provision for credit risk 2020 2019 
Financial assets (impairment)/reversal of impairment (16,588) 6,085 
Off BS liabilities (provision)/reversal of provision (1,937) 1,508 

Impairment and provision for credit risk (18,525) 7,593 
 
4.7 Taxation 
 
Corporate tax is based on the corporate income tax payable for the profit or loss of the current year which 
is determined in accordance with the Hungarian accounting and taxation rules. The rate of corporate tax 
is 9%, deferred tax assets and expenses are determined using the rate of tax. 
 

Taxation 

2020 2019 

Profit or 
Loss 

Other 
comprehen-
sive income 

Profit or 
Loss 

Other 
comprehen-
sive income 

Current year corporate tax expense (1,306) - (1,009) - 
Deferred tax income / (expense) 2,919 57 (1,142) (206) 

Tax receivables / (liabilities) 1,613 57 (2,151) (206) 
 
A reconciliation of corporate tax payable for pre-tax profit or loss, calculated with the tax rate determined 
by law, and the Group’s current rate of tax, as at 31 December 2020, is the following: 
 

  2020 2019 
Profit/(loss) before tax (6,142) 4,383 
Tax expense using the domestic corporation tax rate - (394) 
Loss for the current year not recognized as a deferred tax asset (1,365) (1,960) 
Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax asset 2,829 (112) 
Non-deductible expenses - (914) 
Tax exempt income - 1,132 
Tax concession - (1) 
Other tax effects 149 98 
Income tax 1,613 (2,151) 

 
In the case of more companies within the Group, out of the pre-tax profit or loss or corporate tax base (the 
higher value) did not reach the “minimum income (gains)”. The companies exercised their right of choice 
- (either disclosing a declaration in their corporate tax statement or regarding the “minimum income (gains)” 
as the tax base) - differently. Because of the above, the tax base and the amount of tax payable cannot 
be derived from the items modifying the corporate tax base. Because of this, the items modifying the 
corporate tax base are not presented in this statement. 
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4.8 Deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise under the following grounds: 
 

  
2020 2019 

Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net 
Financial assets 
measured at FVTPL 

179 -  179 510 - 510 

Financial assets 
measured at FVTOCI 

4,514 (207) 4,307 1,594 - 1,594 

Financial assets 
measured at AC 

5 - 5 65 - 65 

Intangible assets and 
property, plant and 
equipment 

1,068 (331) 737 691 -  691 

Other assets 80 - 80 48 -  48 

Financial liabilities 
measured at FVTPL 

-  (173) (173) -  (195)  (195)  

Financial liabilities 
measured at AC 

-  (6,387) (6,387) -  (4,110)  (4,110)  

Other financial liabilities -  (52) (52) -  -  -  

Provisions 120 60 180 89 (14) 75 

Other liabilities -  (395) (395) - - - 

Unused amount of 
accrued loss 

11,804                   -  11,804 1,960 - 1,960 

Other items 70 242 312 15 - 15 
Net tax assets 
(liabilities) 

17,840 (7,243) 10,597 4,972 (4,319) 653 

 
 

  2020 2019 

Maturity between 1 and 5 years 22,812 1,704 

Maturity between 6 and 10 years 273,745 256 

Deferred negative corporate tax base 296,557 1,960 
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Financial assets 
 
No financial instruments were reclassified between the measurement categories in 2020. 
 
4.9 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 
Cash 78,272 31,787 
Account receivables from central banks 655,117 31,831 
Other receivables from banks 40,552 38,094 
Total 773,941 101,712 

 
The Cash and cash equivalents line shows the cash assets of the Group and its accounts managed at 
NBH and at other credit institutions. The increase due to the newly consolidated subsidiaries was HUF 
482,327 million. 
 
4.10 Financal assets measured at FVTPL 
 

Financial assets measured at FVTPL 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Derivatives 29,697 1,582 
Equity instruments 38,684 28,865 
Debt securities 57,905 29,767 
Loans 45,115 2,704 
Total 171,401 62,918 

 
The Group measures financial assets held for trading and required to be held at fair value through profit 
or loss. The amount of financial assets held for trading increased by HUF 61,681 million compared to the 
previous year, significant part of the increase was due to the increase in the amount of debt financial 
instruments held for trading. The equity instruments at fair value through profit or loss increased by HUF 
4,357 million and the FVTPL loans measured at FVTPL increased by HUF 42,411 million, almost entirely 
due to the newly consolidated subsidiaries.  
 
For details of derivative assets, please see Note 4.11. 
 
The composition of the debt and equity financial instruments measured at FVTPL on the balance sheet 
date are shown in the following table: 
 

Securities measured at FVTPL 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Hungarian Government bonds  57,627 29,706 

Hungarian corporate sector bonds 242 61 

Hungarian equities 8,769 9,694 
Foreign equities 2,604 385 
Investment certificates 27,311 18,786 
Other securities 36 - 

Total 96,589 58,632 
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4.11 Derivative financial assets 
 
The Group records derivative financial instruments in its books for trading. In the case of instruments listed 
on a stock exchange, fair value recorded in the balance sheet was determined on the basis of the market 
value valid on the balance sheet date. The Group uses the discounted cash-flow method to determine the 
fair value of over-the-counter transactions. 
 

Derivative financial instruments* 
31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Asset Liability Asset Liability 

Currency swaps 3,921 2,574 246 52 
Base swaps - 611 163 41 
Interest swaps 15,991 36,053 3,252 4,329 
Futures 9,495 4,127 369 656 
FX-option transactions 531 208 322 322 
Margin transactions 6 124 19 31 
Stock options 213 1,273 331 2,714 
Total 30,157 44,970 4,702 8,145 
* the derivative financial assets in the table are presented in „Financial assets measured at fair value through profit 
or loss”, the derivative financial liabilities in the table are presented in „Financial liabilities measured at fair value 
through profit or loss” 

 
The fair value of hedge transaction on the balance sheet date is shown in the following table: 
 

Fair value of hedging deals 
31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Asset Liability Asset Liability 

Interest swaps 460 5,465 2,978 3,270 
Base swaps - - - 37 

Fair value hedges 460 5,465 2,978 3,307 
Interest swaps - - - - 
Base swaps - 524 141 4 

Cash flow hedge - 524 141 4 

Total 460 5,989 3,119 3,311 
 
The fair value of hedge transaction on the balance sheet date is shown in the following table: 
 

Hedging deals by maturity - 
nominal value 

Maturity 

Up to 1 
month 

1 month to 
3 months 

3 months 
to 12 

months 

1 year to 5 
years 

Over 5 
years 

Interest swaps 600 4,000 23,828 130,092 126,044 
Base swaps - - - - - 

Fair value hedge 
600 4,000 23,828 130,092 

126,04
4 

Interest swaps - - - - - 
Base swaps - - - - 959 

Cash flow hedge - - - - 959 

Total 
600 4,000 23,828 130,092 

127,00
3 
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A maturity breakdown of hedge transactions by nominal value is shown in the following table: 
 

Fair value hedges 
Carrying amount of hedged 
instruments at 31.12.2020 

Change in the cumulative fair 
value hedge of hedging 

Asset Liability Asset Liability 

Loans and advances 165,451 - 2,489 - 
Debt securities 116,462 27,606 (4,108) (206) 

Interest rate risk 281,913 27,606 (1,619) (206) 
Loans and advances 528 - (17) - 
Debt securities - - - - 

Exchange rate risk 528 - (17) - 
Total 282,441 27,606 (1,636) (206) 

 
In macro-hedge transactions, changes in fair value of fixed rate loans are hedged using interest rate 
swaps, the fixed rate loans included in the balance sheet line "Financial assets measured at amortized 
cost". At the end of 2020, fixed rate loans and interest rate swaps are macro-hedged HUF 165,451 million 
and further HUF 2,489 million of unamortized cost from closed hedge transactions are included in the 
balance sheet line "Other financial assets".  
 
The table below shows the details of the macro-hedging interest rate swap portfolio on the balance sheet 
date: 
 

Macro hedges  
Nominal value of hedging 

interest swaps 
The fair value difference of 

hedge contacted IRSs 

Asset 40,265 359 
Liability 125,186 (3,617) 

 
4.12 Financial assets measured at FVTOCI 
 

Assets measured at FVTOCI 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Debt securities 1,054,615 380,290 

Equity instruments 9,813 14,683 

Total 1,064,428 394,973 
 
Debt securities of the Group fulfilling the SPPI requirements, obtained for the purpose of holding and 
trading, are recorded at fair value through other comprehensive income. Of equity securities, non-trading 
securities in the case of which the Group irreversibly applies the FVTOCI option are recorded in the 
category measured through other comprehensive income. 
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The composition of debt and equity financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income 
is shown in the following table: 
 

Securities measured at FVTOCI 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Hungarian Government bonds  978,428 317,131 

Hungarian corporate sector bonds 69,123 56,037 

Foreign corporate sector bonds 7,064 7,122 

Hungarian equities 9,753 6,708 

Foreign equities 60 7,975 

Total 1,064,428 394,973 

 
4.13 Financial assets measured at AC 
 

Financial assets measured at AC 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Loans and advances 4,016,809 1,613,882 

Central bank and interbank deposits 316,050 78,233 

Debt securities 1,533,846 42,029 

Other receivables 185,201 26,482 

Total 6,051,906 1,760,626 

 
Financial assets at amortized cost include loans to clients and credit institutions, deposits held at other 
banks and debt securities whose incoming cash flows only represent principal and interest rate payment. 
 

Securities measured at AC 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Hungarian Government bonds  1,437,173 26,353 

Hungarian corporate sector bonds 92,450 14,677 

Foreign corporate sector bonds 4,223 999 

Total 1,533,846 42,029 
 

Gross amount of loans measured at AC 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Corporate Banking 2,221,217 781,639 

Retail and Private Banking 1,610,023 636,228 

Banks 225,079 176,191 

Public finances 139,143 89,042 

Total 4,195,462 1,683,100 
 

Impairment of loans measured at 
AC 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 

Corporate Banking 30,294 26,157 46,029 622 103,102 

Retail and Private Banking 13,353 9,718 49,868 2,371 75,310 

Banks 53 - - - 53 

Public finances 153 3 32 - 188 

Impairment balance at 31.12.2020 43,853 35,878 95,929 2,993 178,653 
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Impairment of loans measured at 
AC 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 

Corporate 7,549 897 29,984 614 39,044 
Retail 4,404 944 30,622 11 35,981 
Banks 117 - - - 117 
Public finances 3 - 46 - 49 
Impairment balance at 31.12.2019 12,073 1,841 60,652 625 75,191 

 
Carrying amount of loans measured at AC 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Corporate 2,118,115 742,595 
Retail 1,534,713 600,247 
Banks 225,026 176,074 
Public finances 138,955 88,993 
Total 4,016,809 1,607,909 

 
Gross carrying amount  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total 

Opening amount at 01 January 2020 1,523,091 23,664 132,037 4,308 1,683,100 

Transfers: 
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (124,870) 124,870 - - - 
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (3,678) - 3,678 - - 
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 6,192 (6,192) - - - 
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (2,612) 2,612 - - 
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 5,753 - (5,753) - - 
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 944 (944) - - 

Change in EAD (192,414) (1,323) (4,926) (13) (198,676) 
Increases from business combinations 1,940,706 245,325 63,942 6,442 2,256,415 
Financial assets derecognised during the 
period 

(104,869) (2,850) (51,796) (1,651) (161,166) 

New financial assets originated or 
purchased 

589,927 27,916 11,105 116 629,064 

FX and other movements (13,276) - (836) 836 (13,267) 
Closing amount at 31 December 2020 3,626,562 409,742 149,119 10,038 4,195,461 

 

Impairment 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI 

Total 12-month 
ECL 

Lifetime 
ECL 

Lifetime 
ECL 

purchased or 
originated 

credit-impaired 
Opening amount at 01 January 2020 12,073 1,841 60,652 625 75,191 
Transfers: 

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (4,215) 4,215 - - - 
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (1,015) - 1,015 - - 
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 216 (216) - - - 
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (1,084) 1,084 - - 
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 1,233 - (1,233) - - 
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 46 (46) - - 

Change in EAD 15,419 2,518 1,389 85 19,411 
Increases from business combinations 20,223 28,104 46,582 2,124 97,033 
Financial assets derecognised during the 
period 

(1,200) (179) (20,899) (101) (22,379) 

New financial assets originated or 
purchased 

5,255 2,675 7,566 79 15,575 

FX and other movements (4,136) (2,042) (181) 181 (6,178) 
Closing amount at 31 December 2020 43,853 35,878 95,929 2,993 178,653 
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4.14 Other assets 
 

Other assets 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Taxes, duties and other tax items 12,091 874 

Mediated services 3,569 2,545 

Collaterals held in possession 1,041 667 

Materials 371 213 

Other accruals and receivables 28,833 11,140 

Other assets total 45,905 15,439 
 
4.15 Investments in subsidiaries and associates  
 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates  31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Cost 7,484 5,408 

Transfers to held for sale - (3,544) 

Share of post acquisition reserves (541) 1,996 

Investments in associates 6,943 3,860 

Investments in other subsidiaries 6,298 3,478 

Investments in subsidiaries and associates total 13,241 7,338 
 
During 2020 goodwill arised on prior year acquisitions was impaired. The significant part of this goodwill 
was recognised during the acquisition of Takarék Kereskedelmi Bank Zrt., which merged into Takarékbank 
Zrt. as at the initial recognition the goodwill was HUF 1,213 million HUF.  
 
As of 15 December 2020, the MBH commenced its group management function, 31  December 2020 is 
considered  the acquisition date for accounting purpose. In accordance with the acquisiton method, as at 
the date the acquisition goodwill in an amount of HUF 94,422 million HUF arised on the Group’s business 
combination. The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications 
that goodwill might be impaired. 
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General and financial data of associates and joint enterprises are shown below: 
 
MPT Security Magyar Posta Takarék Biztonsági és Logisztikai Zrt. 
 
As at 31 May 2015 MTB acquired 40% of MPT Security Zrt.’s shares. As at 31 March 2015 Takarék 
Jelzálogbank Nyrt. acquired 10% of MPT Security Zrt.’s shares. As a result the Group has significant 
influence over the entity and is presented as an associate in the consolidated financial statements.  
 

General and financial data of associates and joint enterprises 
MPT Security Magyar Posta 

Takarék Biztonsági és 
Logisztikai Zrt. 

General information   

Principal activity Personal security services 

Country of incorporation Hungary 

Ownership share % (direct and indirect) 50% 

Percentage of voting rights 50% 

Relation Associate 

Involvement Equity method 
 

Financial data 31.12.2020 

   Cash and cash equivalents 119 

   Other current assets 1,528 

Current assets 1,647 

Non-current assets 3,294 

Total assets 4,941 

Amounts due to other banks - 

Deposits and current accounts 993 

Other liabilities 557 

Total liabilities 1,550 

Equity 3,391 

Total liabilities 4,941 

Net interest income 8,399 

Other income / (expense) 201 

Operating expenses (8,031) 

Profit after tax (150) 

Other comprehensive income 0 

Total comprehensive income (150) 

Dividend payable 66 
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Takarékinfo Központi Adatfeldolgozó Zrt. 
 
As at 31 December 2020 MTB owns 13.91% of Takarékinfo Központi Adatfeldolgozó Zrt.’s shares. Takarék 
Invest Befektetési és ingatlankezelő Kft. owns an additional 13.91% of the shares. As a result the Group 
has significant influence over the entity and is presented as an associate in the consolidated financial 
statements.  
 

General and financial data of associates and joint enterprises 
Takarékinfo Központi 
Adatfeldolgozó Zrt. 

General information   

Principal activity  
Data and webhosting 

services 
Country of incorporation Hungary 

Ownership share % (direct and indirect) 28% 

Percentage of voting rights 28% 

Relation Associate 

Involvement Equity method 
 

Financial data 31.12.2020 

   Cash and cash equivalents 102 

   Other current assets 3,594 

Current assets 3,696 

Non-current assets 22,505 

Total assets 26,201 

Amounts due to other banks 9,960 

Deposits and current accounts 120 

Other liabilities 14,825 

Total liabilities 24,905 

Equity 1,296 

Total liabilities 26,201 

Revenue 18,164 

Other income / (expense) 5,110 

Operating expense (23,788) 

Profit after tax (551) 

Other comprehensive income - 

Total comprehensive income (551) 

Dividend payable - 
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Takarék Kockázati Tőkealap 
 
MTB acquired 23.08% of Takarék Kockázati Tőkealap’s shares. As a result the Group has significant 
influence over the entity and is presented as an associate in the consolidated financial statements. 
 

General and financial data of associates and joint enterprises 
Takarék Kockázati 

Tőkealap I. 

General information   

Principal activity  
Investment fund 

management activities 
Country of incorporation Hungary 

Ownership share % (direct and indirect) 23% 

Percentage of voting rights 23% 

Relation Associate 

Involvement Equity method 
 

Financial data 31.12.2020 

   Cash and cash equivalents 1,410 

   Other current assets 367 

Current assets 1,777 

Non-current assets 5,875 

Total assets 7,652 

Amounts due to other banks - 

Deposits and current accounts 1 

Other liabilities 178 

Total liabilities 179 

Equity 7,473 

Total liabilities 7,652 

Net interest income - 

Other income/(expense), net (190) 

Operating expenses 178 

Profit after tax (12) 

Other comprehensive income - 

Total comprehensive income (12) 

Dividend - 
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MKB-Pannónia Alapkezelő Zrt.                    
 

General and financial data of associates and joint enterprises MKB-Pannónia Alapkezelő Zrt.                   

General information   

Principal activity  
Investment fund management 

activity 
Country of incorporation Hungary 

Ownership share % (direct and indirect) 49% 

Percentage of voting rights 49% 

Relation Associate 

Involvement Equity method 

 
Financial data 31.12.2020 

  Cash and cash equivalents 257 

  Other current assets 5,537 

Current assets 5,794 

Non-current assets 268 

Total assets 6,062 

Amounts due to other banks - 

Deposits and current accounts - 

Other liabilities 546 

Total liabilities 546 

Equity 5,516 

Total liabilities 6,062 

Revenue 5,810 

Other income 64 

Total revenues  5,874 

Cost to sell (1,041) 

Depreciation and amortization (45) 

Other expenses (165) 

Operating expenses (1,251) 

Profit for the year 4,252 
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4.16 Tangible assets and intangible assets 
 
Movements in the Group’s tangible and intangible assets are shown in the following tables. Current year depreciation of tangible assets and 
intangible assets is recorded in the statement of profit or loss among operating expenses. The above tables do not include right-of-use assets, 
disclosures in connection to them are included in Note 4.22. 
 

31 December 2020 Intangible assets Freehold property Own equipments Total 

Cost 

01 January 2020 16,253 38,826 8,973 64,052 

Additions – including internally developed 2,445 2,423 3,170 8,038 

Increases from business combinations 130,107 36,916 37,375 204,398 

Other adjustments (1) - (71) (72) 

Disposals 4,463 3,900 729 9,092 

31 December 2020 144,341 74,265 48,718 267,324 

Depreciation and impairment loss 

01 January 2020 8,213 1,814 4,654 14,681 

Depreciation charged for the year 2,020 1,307 1,373 4,700 

Increases from business combinations 81,694 15,448 25,180 122,322 

Impairment loss 98 - 90 188 

Other adjustments - - (68) (68) 

Disposals 2,195 498 407 3,100 

31 December 2020 89,830 18,071 30,822 138,723 

Carrying amount 

01 January 2020 8,040 37,012 4,319 49,371 

31 December 2020 54,511 56,194 17,896 128,601 
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31 December 2019 Intangible assets Freehold property Own equipments Total 

Cost 

01 January 2019 15,320 35,885 8,515 59,720 

Additions – including internally developed 3,030 4,124 5,614 12,768 

Other adjustments (175) (69) (96) (340) 

Disposals 1,922 1,114 5,060 8,096 

31 December 2019 16,253 38,826 8,973 64,052 

Depreciation and impairment loss 

01 January 2019 6,781 1,273 5,473 13,527 

Depreciation charged for the year 3,124 1,308 1,617 6,049 

Impairment loss 104 - - 104 

Other adjustments (109) (2) (85) (196) 

Disposals 1,687 765 2,351 4,803 

31 December 2019 8,213 1,814 4,654 14,681 

Carrying amount 

01 January 2019 8,539 34,612 3,042 46,193 

31 December 2019 8,040 37,012 4,319 49,371 
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4.17 Non-current assets held-for-sale 
 
The carrying amount of the assets held-for-sale on the balance sheet date is shown in the following table in a 
breakdown of major asset classes: 
 

Fixed assets classified as held-for-sale 31.12.2020 
Loans and advances 504 
Property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 1,029 
Property taken for loans and advances held for sale 167 
Total 1,700 
 
On 31 December 2020, a loan portfolio in net amount of HUF 504 million was reclassified to non-current assets 
held-for-sale (gross value of HUF 2,975 million, relating loss allowances of HUF 2,471 million). Furthermore the 
Group discloses one of the real estates of MKB Üzemeltetési Kft. in the amount of HUF 1,029 million as non-
current assets held-for-sale, the disposal of the real estate is expected to be completed in 2021. 
 
At the end of December one of the subsidiaries of MTB Group reclassified some of its real estates as non-
current asset held for sale, where the management is committed to the sale, and the sale is expected to closed 
within 12 months.  
 
Net asset of the derecognised subsidiaries during the reporting period was as follows: 
 

 

Diófa 
Ingatlan
kezelő 
Kft.* 

Diófa 
Alapke-

zelő 
Zrt.* 

Bóly és 
Vidéke 

Takarék
szövet-
kezet 

CeC 
d.d. 

TKK 
Ingatlan 

Kft. 

Tak-
Invest 

Kft. 

TKK 
Csoport 
Ingatlan 

Kft. 

TKK 
Követe-
lésbe-
hajtó 
Kft. 

Assets         
Cash and cash equivalents        113      1,767           53           30             3         352             -           96  
Financial assets measured at AC          42         363         201           81             -             -             -         201  
Investments in subsidiaries and 
associates 

           -           10             5             -             -             -  -                       5  

Property, plant and equipment            2             7             4             -             -             -             -           14  
Intangible assets            9           42             -             -             -             -             -         318  
Other assets            6           69             3           40             -             2             -             4  

Total assets 172  2,258   266     151   3    354        -     638  

         
Liabilities         
Financial liabilities measured at AC       -    (15)    (18)  (820)        -         -          -    (176) 
Provisions        -        -       (12)           -            -            -            -        (12) 
Other liabilities      (71)    (353)        (7)       (4)          -         (4)          -      (46) 
Total liabilities       (71) (368)      (37)     (824)  -  (4)  -    (234) 

         
Total equity    (101)  (1,890) (229)    673  (3)     (350)  -    (404) 

         
Purchase consideration  -  3,450   -   -   -   -   -   -  
*Assets held for trade as at 31 December 2019        
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Result of derecognised equity measured associates during the reporting period was as follows: 
 

Derecognition of associates 
Investments in  

associates carrying 
amount on purchase date 

Purchase 
consideration 

Díjbeszedő Faktorház Zrt.* 3,290        4,254  

Díjnet Kft.* 364            616  

Díjbeszedő Informatika Kft.* 20               -   

Magyar Posta Befektetési Szolgáltató Zrt. 24              39  
Total 3,698 4,909 
*Assets held for trade as at 31 December 2019 

 
4.18 Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL 
 

Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Derivatives 38,981 4,834 
Debt securities issued 6,484 6,439 
Other financial liabilities 3,659 - 

Total 49,124 11,273 

 
In the line “Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL” the Group shows the mortgage bonds recognized at fair 
value. Futhermore, this line includes those financial liabilities that are closely related to swaps, which were made 
to mitigate risks, and which do not qualify as elements of a hedge transaction. In the case of these financial 
assets, the sum payable on maturation to the entitled party of the liability based on the contract is the nominal 
value. Interest received or interest payable is recorded in “Interest and similar to interest income” or “Interest 
expenses” using the effective interest rate. The entire change in fair value outside the effect of the market 
condition changes resulting in market risk originates from the changes in lending risk. 
 
Please see detailes of derivative liabilities in Note 4.11. 
 
4.19 Financial liabilities measured at AC 
 

Financial liabilities measured at AC 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Deposits 5,406,377 1,799,981 
Borrowed funds 1,775,448 134,619 
Debt securities issued 264,650 245,522 
Other financial liabilities 196,293 74,754 

Total 7,642,768 2,254,876 
 

Financial liabilities measured at AC - deposits 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Amounts due to other banks 50,343 19,352 
Deposits and current accounts 5,356,034 1,780,629 
Total 5,406,377 1,799,981 

 
Note 4.23 describes in detail the debt securities issued. Other financial liabilities typically include liabilities 
related to the investment accounts of clients and accounts payable. 
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Non-financial liabilities 
 
4.20 Provisions 
 
The following tables show the change in provisions related to 2020 and 2019: 
 

Provisions 
Opening 

balance at 
01.01.2020 

Increases 
from business 
combinations 

Additional 
provision 

Reversal of 
provisions 

Closing 
balance at 
31.12.2020 

Provision for risks 2,357 4,719 3,028 (959) 9,146 
Provision for pension and 
termination benefit 

2,481 200 - (2,479) 202 

Provision for litigation 286 704 328 (345) 973 
Provision for restructuring 346 - 81 (346) 81 
Provision for other purposes 3,958 1,012 976 (3,308) 2,638 

Total provisions 9,428 6,635 4,413 (7,437) 13,040 
 

Provisions 
Opening 

balance at 
01.01.2019 

Additional 
provision 

Reversal of 
provisions 

Closing balance 
at 31.12.2019 

Provision for risks 3,705 3,749 (5,097) 2,357 
Provision for pension and 
termination benefit 

571 1,910 - 2,481 

Provision for litigation 804 24 (542) 286 
Provision for restructuring - 365 (19) 346 
Provision for other purposes 3,333 2,637 (2,012) 3,958 
Total provisions 8,413 8,685 (7,670) 9,428 

 
Risk reserves are made in particular for existing commitments and contractual obligations. The changes in 
provisions are presented for among “Impairment and provision for credit risk” and “Operating expenses”. 
 
Provisions for litigation are made for those contingent liabilities of the Group where third parties involved may 
pursue claims against the Group. The outcome and schedule of legal cases is uncertain. 
 
Provisions for other purposes are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
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4.21 Other liabilities 

Other liabilities 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 
Other accrued charges 34,191 25,970 
Taxes, duties and other tax receivable 8,337 4,752 
Other liabilities 28,700 1,756 

Total 71,228 32,478 

4.22 Leases   

The Group, as lessee, mainly possesses lease contract for properties and vehicles. The following tables show 
the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities recorded because of these lease contracts.  
 

 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 
Freehold property, equipments 74,090 41,331 
Right-of-use assets 24,983 5,903 

Total properties, equipments 99,073 47,234 
 

Lease liabilities  31.12.2020 31.12.2019 
Short term liabilities 5,840 1,622 
Long-term liabilities 28,281 4,535 

Total lease liabilities 34,121 6,157 
 

Maturity analysis - undiscounted contractual cash-flows  31.12.2020 31.12.2019 
Up to 1 year 7,402 1,703 
1 year to 5 years 22,048 3,926 
Over 5 years 15,696 850 

Total undiscounted lease liabilities 45,146 6,479 
 

Right-of-use assets  Properties 
Vehicles and 

other equipment 
Total 

Balance at 01.01.2020. 5,873 30 5,903 
Increases 164 8 172 
Increases from business combinations 19,623 964 20,587 
Depreciation for the current year (1,443) (16) (1,459) 
Decreases (220)                   -                       (220) 

Balance at 31.12.2020. 23,997 986 24,983 
 

Total cash outflow related to lease  2020 2019 

Total cash outflow for leases (1,806) (1,126) 
 

Items recorded in the profit or loss related to assets leased  2020 2019 

Interest expense recognized on lease liabilities (98) (72) 
 

Items reported in the cash flow statement  2020 2019 

Interest expense recognized on lease liabilities (98) (72) 

Payments related to the capital share of a lease liability (1,708) (1,055) 
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The Group, as lessee, did not apply the practical expedient of the lease payment modifications to their leases 
from COVID-19-related rent concessions. 
 
4.23 Debt securities issued 
 
The stock of debt securities issued by the Group is related to the Takarék Jelzálogbank, which generates most 
of the funds necessary for its operation by issuing mortgage bonds. 
 
Debt securities issued measured at amortized cost: 
 

Issued mortgage bond 
31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Nominal value 
Carrying 
amount 

Nominal value 
Carrying 
amount 

Variable rate mortgage bond 30,406 30,512 40,487 40,605 
Fix rate mortgage bond 227,165 234,138 199,788 204,917 
Total mortgage bond 257,571 264,650 240,275 245,522 

 
 
Debt securities issued measured at fair value: 
 

Issued mortgage bond 
31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Nominal value 
Carrying 
amount 

Nominal value 
Carrying 
amount 

Variable rate mortgage bond - - - - 
Fix rate mortgage bond 5,970 6,484 5,668 6,439 
Total mortgage bond 5,970 6,484 5,668 6,439 

 

Issued securities carrying amount by maturity 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Up to 1 year 21,963 34,176 
1 year to 5 years 156,784 193,528 
Over 5 years 92,387 24,257 
Total 271,134 251,961 

 
The following table shows the change in fair value of liabilities recorded at fair value in the current year: 
 

Liabilities measured at FVTPL 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 
Opening balance 6,439 6,489 
Change in fair value due to market risk (148) 68 

Change in fair value due to credit risk recognized in 
comprehensive income 

193 (118) 

Closing balance 6,484 6,439 
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According to the requirements of the IFRS 9 standard, gains and losses of financial liabilities classified as 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, due to changes in the lending risk of the liability, and other 
remaining fair value changes are accounted for in the profit or loss. 
 
Mortgage bonds   
 
Mortgage bonds are registered or transferable bearer securities, which can only be issued by mortgage credit 
institutions under Act XXX. of 1997 (hereinafter as Mortgage Loan Act). Prior to their issue, an asset controller 
mandatorily reviews whether the Group possesses adequate collateral for the planned issue. Such collateral 
may be (i) ordinary collateral such as the principal and interest receivables from mortgage loans provided in 
accordance with the standard collateral requirements (including interest subsidies), the repurchase price of an 
independent lien and the related refinancing interest, and (ii) additional collateral such as, typically, government 
securities and related interest and any principal and interest receivables guaranteed by the government.  
 
According to the Mortgage Loan Act, if the amount of principal receivable exceeds 60% of the collateral value 
of related property offered, only the receivable corresponding to 60% of the collateral value and the 
proportionate amount of interest can be considered as an ordinary collateral. The Act governs the proportion 
between ordinary and additional collaterals backing the mortgage bonds: at least 80% of all collateral must be 
ordinary collateral. 
  
In addition to the requirements under the Mortgage Loan Act, the Group must at all times maintain the following: 

 cover for the nominal value: the nominal value of the ordinary collateral (the underlying principal 
excluding the provision for any impairment loss and interest) should exceed 100% of the not yet repaid 
nominal value of the mortgage bonds outstanding, 

 if the requirement in point (i) is not fulfilled, the Group has to acquire additional collateral to the extent 
that the sum of the nominal values of the ordinary and additional collaterals always exceed 100% of the 
not yet repaid nominal value of the mortgage bonds outstanding, 

 cover for the interest: the interest on the principal of the ordinary and additional collaterals should 
exceed 100% of the interest on the not yet repaid nominal value of the mortgage bonds outstanding.  

 
In addition to assessing the nominal value of the cover of mortgage bonds and the underlying collaterals, the 
Mortgage Loan Act stipulates that collateral for mortgage bonds should also be assessed at present value. The 
present value of collateral exceeded the present value of mortgage bonds outstanding not yet repaid throughout 
the period. 
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4.24 Non-controlling interest 
 

31.12.2020 

Ownership of 
the non-

controlling 
interests 

Voting rights 
proportion of 

the non-
controlling 
interests 

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 

year of the 
non-controlling 

interests 

Accumulated 
non - 

controlling 
interest 

Takarékbank Zrt. 26.62% 26.62% (2,919) 29,933 

Takarék Jelzálogbank Nyrt. 9.12% 9.12% 175 7,111 

TIFOR Takarék Ingatlanforgalmazó Zrt. 15.83% 15.83% (100) 1,080 

TIHASZ Takarék Ingatlanhasznosító Zrt. 6.42% 6.42% 5 1,817 

MA-TAK-EL Zrt. 25.71% 25.71% (30) 22 

Takinfo Kft. 47.62% 47.62% (54) 846 

OPUS TM1 6.39% 6.39% 18 134 

DBH Investment Zrt. 0.50% 0.50% - 1 

Bóly és Vidéke Takarékszövetkezet* 0.00% 0.00% (106) - 

Diófa Alapkezelő Zrt.* 7.99% 7.99% 54 - 

Diófa Ingatlankezelő Kft.* 7.99% 7.99% 2 - 

MKB Nyrt. 2.81% 2.81% - 5,714 

MKB Üzemeltetési Kft. 2.81% 2.81% - 958 

Euro - Immat Üzemeltetési Kft. 2.81% 2.81% - 132 

MKB Digital Szolgáltató Zrt. 2.81% 2.81% - 18 

MKB-Euroleasing Autólízing Szolgáltató Zrt. 2.81% 2.81% - 162 

MKB Bank MRP Szervezet 2.81% 2.81% - 67 

Retail Prod Zrt. 2.81% 2.81% - 20 

Total     (2,955) 48,015 

*In 2020, it being excluded from the scope of consolidation   

 
In subsidiaries not included in the above table, there is no minority interest. 



 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT 31 DECEMBER 2020 

 

 (Every amount is expressed in HUF million, any differences shall be marked separately. The thousands separator is a 
comma, negative numbers are in brackets.) 

 

92 

4.25 Financial data of subsidiaries  
 
The financial data of subsidiaries on the balance sheet date are summarized in the following table: 
 
 

31.12.2020 
Total 

assets 
Total 

liabilities 
Equity 

Net income 
from interest 

and 
commissions 

and fees 

Profit for 
the year 

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 

year 

Total net 
cash 

Takarékbank Zrt. 2 804 940 (2 692 574) 112 366 100 661 (10 780) (10 954) 26 844 

MKB Nyrt. 2 792 636 (2 589 662) 202 974 49 638 6 232 9 419 191 763 

Budapest Bank Zrt. 2 169 408 (2 004 072) 165 336 81 002 4 346 4 103 291 821 

Takarék Jelzálogbank 
Nyrt. 

612 141 (545 457) 66 684 3 379 2 373 1 641 - 

MKB-Euroleasing 
Autólízing Szolgáltató 
Zrt. 

189 435 (183 013) 5 759 5 853 1 716 1 549 343 

Budapest Lízing Zrt. 124 819 (118 415) 6 404 2 499 98 98 2 

Takarék Lízing Zrt. 52 760 (52 067) 693 1 109 221 221 91 

MKB Üzemeltetési Kft. 35 870 (1 748) 34 122 40 258 258 14 194 

TIHASZ Takarék 
Ingatlanhasznosító Zrt. 

25 981 (134) 25 847 - (17) (17) - 

Takarék Zártkörű 
Befektetési Alap 

12 522 (7) 12 514 (24) 97 97 1 322 

Takarék Invest 
Befektetési és 
Ingatlankezelő Kft. 

8 134 (217) 7 917 22 4 213 4 213 - 

Takarék Központi 
Követelés Kezelő Zrt. 

6 733 (4 713) 2 020 (157) 1 007 1 007 1 288 

Takarék 
Mezőgazdasági és 
Fejlesztési 
Magántőkealap 

7 095 (5) 7 090 37 173 173 (161) 

Takarék Faktorház Zrt. 6 594 (5 923) 641 321 56 56 (4 085) 

TIFOR Takarék 
Ingatlanforgalmazó Zrt. 

6 280 (363) 5 917 - (477) (477) 1 308 

Euro - Immat 
Üzemeltetési Kft. 

5 573 (874) 4 699 3 27 27 1 299 

MA-TAK-EL Zrt.  3 971 (3 981) 11 (46) (126) (126) (71) 

Budapest 
Eszközfinanszírozó Zrt. 

3 177 (1 673) 1 504 118 (207) (207) 1 

Budapest Alapkezelő 
Zrt. 

3 093 (238) 2 855 2 796 2 100 2 100 300 

MKB Bank MRP 
Szervezet 

5 280 (2 931) 2 349 29 2 020 2 020 7 

Opus TM1 2 142 (44) 2 098 (70) (67) (67) (88) 

Takinfo Kft. 1 784 (8) 1 776 (1) (113) (113) 455 

MKB Digital Szolgáltató 
Zrt. 

1 335 (680) 655 (9) 82 82 387 

Retail Prod Zrt. 757 (31) 726 32 71 71 7 

Takarék Ingatlan Zrt. 525 (158) 367 673 33 33 73 

DBH Investment Zrt. 369 (116) 210 - 72 72 21 
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4.26 Contingent liabilities   
 
Commitments related to loans 
 
Commitments related to loans include commitments to extend credit lines and guarantees, the purpose of which 
is to meet the demands of the clients of the Group. 
 
Commitments to extend loans refer to contractual commitments to provide credit line and revolving loans. 
Commitments typically have fixed expiry dates or have other provisions regarding its termination and typically 
generate an obligation for the client to pay a fee. 
Guarantees comprising an irrevocable commitment for the Group to make payments if the client fails to fulfil its 
obligation to a third party bear a risk similar to that of loans. 
 
Since the majority of commitments related to loans expire without being enforced or is terminated, the full 
contractual amount does not necessarily correspond to the future cash requirement. 
 

31.12.2020 Nominal value 
Provision 

Net value 
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Others 

Provided loan 
commitments 

905,853 (5,336) (913) (564) - 899,040 

Provided financial 
guarantees 

134,649 (1,384) (370) (321) - 132,574 

Other provided 
commitments 

123,029 (104) (132) (7) (14) 122,772 

Total 
contingencies 

1,163,531 (6,824) (1,415) (892) (14) 1,154,386 

              

31.12.2019 Nominal value 
Provision 

Net value 
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Others 

Provided loan 
commitments 

287,417 (1,285) (17) (389) - 285,726 

Provided financial 
guarantees 

38,721 (594) (9) (63) - 38,055 

Other provided 
commitments 

- - - - - - 

Total 
contingencies 

326,138 (1,879) (26) (452) - 323,781 

 
Other contingent liabilities include the sum of liabilities resulting from legal cases and other, probable future 
events the settlement of which will probably require the use of resources representing economic benefits. 
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4.27 Related party transactions 
 
For the purpose of the financial statements, MBH identified the related parties using the definition of IAS 24, 
therefore every enterprise that is directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controlled by MBH 
and Key management personnel, including the members of the Board and the Supervisory Board, qualify as a 
related party. 
 
All of the transactions concluded with related companies were concluded according to regular business 
procedures. The transactions include credit and deposit transactions, and off-balance sheet transactions. All of 
the transactions were carried out under the regular commercial conditions and by applying market interest rates, 
should there be any transactions that does not fulfil the conditions for normal course of business, the effect of 
that transaction is taken into consideration by the Group in its corporate tax base. 
 
The Group reports related party transactions carried out in 2020 in the table below: 
 

31.12.2020 
Parent 

company 
Subsidiaries Associates 

Key 
management 

persons 
Loans to banks - - - - 

Loans to customers* 94,977 - - 130 

Other assets - - - - 

Total assets 94,977 - - 130 

Liabilities from banks - - - - 
Liabilities from customers 73,193 - - 5,767 
Other liabilities 123 - - - 
Total liabilities 73,316 - - 5 767 
Interest and similar to interest 
income 

- - - - 

Interest expense - - - - 

Net interest income - - - - 

Commission and fee income - - - - 

Commission and fee expense - - - - 

Commission and fee income, net - - - - 

Other operating income, net - - - - 

Other operating expense, net 7 - - - 
Operating income (7) - - - 
Operating expenses 614 - - 154 
Total income from related parties (621) - - (154) 

 

* related off balance sheet exposure in an amount of HUF 21,928 million 
 
MBH provided the following benefits to is Key management personnel: 
 

 31 December 2020 Headcount Amount of emoluments 
Members of Board of Directors 5 20 
Members of Supervisory Board 5 17 

Total payments 10 37 
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4.28 Fair value of financial instruments 
 
Information related to the fair value of financial assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2020 are as follows: 
 

31 December 2020  

Quoted 
market prices 

in active 
markets 

Valuation 
techniques - 
observable 

inputs 

Valuation 
techniques -  
significant 

unobservable 
inputs 

Total 

Financial assets measured at FVTPL 88,334 34,843 48,224 171,401 
Financial assets measured at FVTOCI 984,552 69,958 9,918 1,064,428 

Total 1,072,886 104,801 58,142 1,235,829 

  
Information related to the fair value of financial assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2019 are as follows: 
  

31 December 2019 

Quoted 
market prices 

in active 
markets 

Valuation 
techniques - 
observable 

inputs 

Valuation 
techniques -  
significant 

unobservable 
inputs 

Total 

Financial assets measured at FVTPL 33,199 1,582 28,137 62,918 

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI 387,808 50 7,115 394,973 

Total 421,007 1,632 35,252 457,891 

 
For the definition of the individual levels of the fair value hierarchy, see below the next tables. 
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Information related to the fair value of financial assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2020 are as follows: 
 

31 December 2020 
Total carrying 

amount 
Total fair value 

Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 773,941 773,944 
Financial assets measured at FVTPL 171,401 171,401 
Financial assets measured at FVTOCI 1,064,428 1,064,428 
Financial assets measured at AC 6,051,906 6,039,099 
Other financial assets 2,949 2,949 
Non-current assets held for sale 1,700 1,700 

Total financial assets 8,066,325 8,053,521 

 
Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL 49,125 49,125 

Financial liabilities measured at AC 7,687,492 7,678,119 

Other financial liabilities 5,990 5,990 

Liabilities classified as held for sale - - 

Total financial liabilities 7,742,607 7,733,234 

 
Information related to the fair value of financial assets and liabilities as of 31 December 2019 are as follows: 
 

31 December 2019 
Total carrying 

amount 
Total fair value 

Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 101,712 101,712 
Financial assets measured at FVTPL 62,918 62,918 
Financial assets measured at FVTOCI 394,973 394,973 
Financial assets measured at AC 1,760,626 1,760,584 
Other financial assets 3,119 3,119 
Non-current assets held for sale 4,452 4,452 

Total financial assets 2,327,800 2,327,758 

      
Financial liabilities     
Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL 11,273 11,273 
Financial liabilities measured at AC 2,254,876 2,254,876 
Other financial liabilities 3,311 3,311 
Liabilities classified as held for sale 292 292 

Total financial liabilities 2,269,752 2,269,752 
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The Group measures fair values using the following measurement hierarchy: 
 
Level 1: Quoted price in an active market of an identical instrument. Fair values of financial instruments traded 
in active markets are based on quoted market prices or dealers’ price quotations. This category includes 
treasury bills, government bonds, other bonds, investment units, equity instruments and currency derivatives 
and stock futures transactions listed on a stock exchange or having an active market. 
 
Level 2: Valuation techniques built on observable inputs. This category includes instruments measured with the 
application of the following: quoted market prices in an active market of similar instruments; quoted prices of 
similar instruments in a market considered inactive; or other valuation techniques where every significant input 
originates from directly or indirectly observable market data. Valuation techniques include net present value and 
discounted cash flow models, comparison with similar instruments with observable market prices, and other 
valuation models. Assumptions and inputs applied in the valuation techniques include risk-free rates and 
benchmark rates, credit risk premiums and other premiums used to estimate discount rates, bond and share 
prices, foreign exchange rates, share indices, and the projected price volatilities. The majority of derivative 
transactions belong to this category, for example currency forwards and swaps, currency and interest rate 
swaps, and bonds whose market is active with limitations. 
 
Level 3: Valuation techniques applying a significant amount of unobservable inputs. This category contains all 
the instruments in the case of which the valuation techniques apply inputs that are based on unobservable data 
and where the unobservable inputs may have a significant impact on the valuation of the instrument. This 
category contains instruments which we value based on quoted prices of similar instruments, and in the case 
of which significant unobservable modifications or assumptions are necessary to reflect the differences between 
the instruments.  
 
No reclassification was carried out between the levels of the fair value hierarchy in the fiscal year. 
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4.29 Forborne assets 
 
It is important to emphasize, that the moratorium related to pandemic practically postpones the possibility and 
the realisation of the restructuring concerning the relevant loans to restructure (ceteris paribus the extension of 
the loans’ expiry date) in time to the earliest of 2021 H2 on the basis of the regulation, because a significant 
part of the clients applied for the payment moratorium. 
 

31.12.2020 
Non-default 

forborne assets 
Default forborne 

assets 

Total forborne 
assets 

(at gross value) 
Public finances 71 24 95 
Other financial corporations 489 635 1,124 
Non-financial corporations 12,608 33,721 46,329 
Households 67,532 49,301 116,833 
Total 80,700 83,681 164,381 

 

31.12.2019 
Non-default 

forborne assets 
Default forborne 

assets 

Total forborne 
assets  

(at gross value) 
Public finances - 162 162 
Other financial corporations - 787 787 
Non-financial corporations 2,410 4,198 6,608 
Households 19,722 13,813 33,535 

Total 22,132 18,960 41,092 
 

Forborne assets 
31.12.2020 31.12.2019 

Gross 
amount 

Impair- 
ment 

Net value 
Gross 

amount 
Impair- 
ment 

Net value 

Public finances 95 (21) 74 162 (16) 146 
Other financial corporations 1,124 (285) 839 787 (473) 314 
Non-financial corporations 46,329 (22,317) 24,012 6,608 (1,766) 4,842 
Households 116,833 (29,750) 87,083 33,535 (6,008) 27,527 

Total forborne assets 164,381 (52,373) 112,008 41,092 (8,263) 32,829 
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4.30 Subordinated liabilities 
 
Subordinated debts are direct, unconditional and unsecured subordinated bonds of the Group, and are 
subordinated to the claims of the Group's depositors and other creditors. 
 

Subordinated liabilities 
31.12.2020 

Nominal value 
(in million EUR) 

Carrying amount 

Variable rate bonds - - 

Fix rate bonds 119 44,724 

Total subordinated liabilities 119 44,724 
 
 

Carrying amount of subordinated debt 
31.12.2020 

Subordinated debts by maturity 

Up to 1 year - 

1 year to 5 years 13,845 

Over 5 years 30,879 

Total 44,724 
 
By the end of the reporting period the amount of the subordinated liabilities is HUF 44,724 million (EUR 119.2 
million). 
 
4.31 Events after reporting period 
 
On 30 December 2020, MTB Magyar Takarékszövetkezeti Bank Zrt., as the shareholder of the MTB with a 
qualified majority has made a binding public purchase offer for all shares issued by Takarék Jelzálogbank Nyrt. 
The deadline for accepting the offer expired on 17 February 2021, and the shareholders of the Takarék 
Jelzálogbank Nyrt. made a valid offer to sell the following number of shares during this time: 
 

 2,103,165 pieces of series “A” ordinary shares, each with a nominal value of HUF 100, 
 0 piece of series “B” preference shares, each with a nominal value of HUF 100, 
 0 piece of series “C” ordinary shares, each with a nominal value of HUF 1,000. 

MTB Zrt. accepted the shares offered and qualified the binding public purchase offer as successful. When all 
the prerequisites determined in the offer have been fulfilled, and after transfer of the offered shares, MTB Zrt.’s 
share in Takarék Jelzálogbank Nyrt. increased from 86.20% to 88.14%, while the combined share of MTB Zrt. 
and persons acting in concert with the former increased from 94.82% to 96.76%. 

On 26 February 2021, MKB Bank Nyrt. has bought the 100% of the shares of Első Értékpapírosítási Tanácsadó 
Zrt. from previous owner, Budapesti Értéktőzsde Zrt., therefore MKB became the sole shareholder of the 
company. 
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The impact of NBH’s executive circular on the Group 
 
Based on “Executive Circular on using macroeconomic information and the factors indicating a significant 
increase in credit risk under the IFRS 9 standard” published by NBH at 21 January 2021, NBH requires the 
Group - in the case of clients participating in the moratorium for longer than 9 months - to examine whether the 
financial situation and repayment ability of the clients may be considered stable despite their permanent 
participation in the moratorium. Where it is not supported by the data available, NBH requires the Group to 
change the category of the loans to ‘restructured’ and reclassify them as Stage 2.  
 
In line with the expectations of the circular, the Group introduced the following measures: 

 determined the scope of clients who had participated in the moratorium for longer than 9 months; 
 modified the portfolio monitoring rules introduced in 2020 for the period of the moratorium so that it 

would identify transactions whose status needs to be reclassified as restructured; 
 determined which clients and transactions are to be reclassified as Stage 2; 
 fulfils the reclassifications conforming with NBH’s requirements until 31 March 2021; 
 repeats portfolio monitoring and reclassifications every month during the term of the moratorium; 
 monitors the healing process of the clients and of the transactions on a monthly basis, in accordance 

with NBH’s requirements. 
 
For the whole of the Group, 27% of the retail and corporate clientele applied the moratorium for at least 9 
months. In 2021 Q1, the Group harmonized its portfolio monitoring methodology used during the moratorium 
with the restructured and hidden Stage2 selection criteria required by NBH. As a result of the NBH circular, the 
Group did not significantly modify the impairment accounted for at financial year of 2020, as the already 
implemented expected credit loss model provide appropriate level of loss allowance on the related loan portfolio. 
 
In May 2021, the Government announced the extension of the moratorium by further two months. The expected 
impact of the payment moratorium extension is assessed based on methods used in previous phases of the 
program, in addition to monitoring the customer's willingness to pay, monitoring customer account turnover, 
direct customer inquiries, targeted questionnaires and other published data. As a result, the necessary 
modification loss will be accounted for on the portfolios affected by the extended payment moratorium. Related 
regulations have not been published yet, however the Group is continuously examining the prospective effects 
of the payment moratorium. 


